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belonging to J. G. Gubbins, Esq., of Otto’s Hoop, in the
Transvaal. It is hoped, therefore, that this may be considered
sufficient excuse for reproducing Owen'’s diary as the seventh
volume of the Van Riebeeck’s Society's publications.

To make the account of the Zululand affairs more complete,
the diaries of Mr. Hulley, interpreter for Mr. Owen, and
Mr. Kirkman, interpreter for the Rev. Mr. Champion, the
American missionary, have been added.

I have to express my thanks to Mrs. Hockly (Miss K.
Bester, M.A., of Rhodes’ University College, Grahamstown)
for her kind assistance in much of the copying.

GEO. E. CORY.

ARCHIVES,
Houses oF PARLIAMENT,
Care Town,

Publications of the Society.

1. Reports of De Chavonnes and his Council, and of van Imhoff, on
the Cape, 1918, Price to members, 6s.

2. Mentzel, O. F.—Life at the Cape in the mid-eighteenth century ;
being the biography of Rudolf Siegfried Alleman, Captain of
the Military Forces at the Cape of Good Hope. Translated
from the German by Miss M. Greenlees, M.A., 1919. Society's
edition out of print.

3. De Mist, J. A—Memorandum containing recommendations for the
form and administration of government at the Cape of Good
Hope ; with an English version by Miss K. M. Jefireys, B.A.,
and a preface by S. F. N. Gie, Ph.D., 1920. Price to members,
10s. 6d.

4. Mentzel, O. F.—A geographical-topographical description of the
Cape of Good Hope. Translated from the German by H. J.
Mandelbrote, M.A., LL.B., Lecturer in History in the University
of Cape Town. Part I, 1921. Price to members, 7s. 6d.

5. Collectanea, Vol. I.—With a preface by C. Graham Botha, 1924.
Price to members, 5s.

6. Mentzel, O. F.—A geographical-topographical description of the
Cape of Good Hope. Translated from the German by H. J.
Mandelbrote, M.A., LL.B., Lecturer in History in the University
of Cape Town. Part II, 1925. Price to members, 6s.

7. The Diary of the Rev. F. Owen, Missionary with Dingaan, together
with the accounts of Zulu affairs by the interpreters,
Messrs. Hulley and Kirkman. Edited by Sir Geo. E. Cory,
M.A., D.Litt.(Camb.). 1926. Price to members, 6s. 6d.




THE REV. FRANCIS OWEN.

The Rev. Francis Owen, M.A. of St. John's College, Cam-
bridge, graduated sixth Senior Optime in the Mathematical
Tripos of 1826. Having officiated for some time as curate
in the parish of Normanton, in Yorkshire, he responded to
the call for missionary assistance in South Africa. A captain,
Allen F. Gardiner, who had resigned from active naval service
in 1834 and who seems to have been long imbued with the
missionary spirit, arrived at Port Natal in 1835, with a view
to the introduction of Christianity among the Zulus—in the
country of the terrible and bloodthirsty Dingaan. Captain
Gardiner’s tactful behaviour gained, not only the confidence
of Dingaan, but his permission to establish mission stations
in his country. Thus encouraged the pious captain returned
to England and, soon, was no less successful in enlisting the
sympathy of the Church Missionary Society. At the anniver-
sary meeting of that Society held in 1836 Captain Gardiner
was one of the chief speakers. One of the results of his fervour
and eloquence was an offer of the Rev. F. Owen for service in
far away Zululand. Mr. Owen’s own zeal in missionary work
is manifest from the entries in the following diary. With his
wife, sister, and a servant named Jane Williams, he was soon
upon the way. In the good ship Palmyra, Captain Foord,
this small party sailed on Christmas Eve of 1836 for South
Africa. Madeira was passed on New Year’s Day, 1837, and
on March 2nd Mr. Owen arrived in Cape Town. From that
date Mr. Owen himself must be permitted to speak by means
of the diary. Four strenuous years he spent in this country
and, in spite of every discouragement, he refused to be
discouraged. Not the least of his difficulties was Dingaan'’s
attitude on theological controversy. As will be seen later,
every time the good missionary endeavoured to inculcate
some great truth, Dingaan, in language more humorous than
reverent, could show his reasons for disbelief and, undoubtedly
to his own satisfaction, retired with the best of the argument.
Mr. Owen figures prominently in our South African history
as the only white man who witnessed the terrible massacre
of Retief and his companions and wrote an account of it a¢
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the time—the account given in this diary. Probably in con-
sequence of the great expense and the little good which was—
and under the circumstances could be—accomplished, the
Church Missionary Society withdrew Mr. Owen from South
Africa. He then returned to England and took work in a
parish near Sheffield. He died of fever in Alexandria, Egypt,
on November 14, 1854. His diary commences

1837. March 2nd.—Thursday. Anchored in Table Bay
at g a.m., after a pleasant and prosperous passage.! Came on
shore at noon and took up our quarters at Mrs. Gunn’s
boarding house, Wall Street,? to which I had been recom-
mended for economy and quiet.

3rd—Walked in the afternoon to Rondebosch, a village
4 miles from Cape Town, to consult with Mr. Hough, the
chaplain of the English Church, on the expediency of forming
an auxiliary Missionary Society. Found him well disposed
to enter into the views of the Committee, which I explained
to him. He requested me to meet him in the vestry of his
church on Monday to talk more fully on the subject and
offered to introduce me afterwards to the Governor.

5th, Sabbath.—Attended St. George’s (the English Church)
in the morning. In the evening I preached from the words
Gal. vi, “ God forbid that I should glory save in the Cross
of our Lord Jesus Christ.”

6th.—Met Mr. Hough and Mr. Judge, the military chaplain,
in the vestry. Showed them my instructions, which they
very much approved of. Mr. Hough proposed to call a
meeting on Wednesday of the most influential part of his
congregation with a view to submit the whole matter before
them preparatory to calling a public meeting. Was introduced
to the Governor.3 Saw him, however, only for a few moments.
Delivered to him Sir G. Grey's letter.4 He expressed his
readiness to preside at a public meeting.

8th.—Attended, in company with Captain Gardiner, a
meeting of some of the most pious and respectable persons
in Mr. Hough’s congregation in the vestry of the church.
Mr. Hough in the chair. Having read an extract from an
old number of the Christian observer in which Captain
Gardiner’s journey to the Zulu country was taken notice of

1 Of sixty-five days. Madeira was passed on New Year’s Day, 133?_‘

2 No. 9, Wale Street, at that date.

3 Sir Benjamin D'Urban.

4 This was not the Sir George Grey who was Governor of this Colony,
but Sir Henry George Grey, Viscount Howick, created third Earl Grey
in July, 1845. His name, however, is connected with South Africa in
his unwilling acquiescence of Sir Harry Smith’s establishment of the
Orange River Sovereignty and his attempt to foist convicts on the
Colony in 1849.
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and the consequent determination of the Committee of the
Church Missionary Society to establish a mission there, he
called on Mr. Judge to offer up a prayer. Mr. Hough then
read my instructions, which I believe interested all present.
Having finished them he said, " Gentlemen, I have nothing
now to do but to lay my hand on my mouth for anything
that I can add will only weaken the effect of what you have
just heard.” It was then proposed that a sub-committee
should be formed to prepare resolutions and to request the
Governor to preside.

gth—The sub-committee consisting of Mr. Hough, Mr.
Musgrave a Barrister, Captain Gardiner and myself waited
on the Governor, who most cheerfully consented to preside
at the meeting at any day or hour which might be judged
most convenient to the public. Accordingly Wednesday next
at 12 o’clock was fixed for the meeting, which will be adver-
tised in two papers previously. Being most kindly invited
by Mr. Judge to spend the remainder of my time at Cape
Town with my family at his house we this day removed to
the abode of our excellent host. o

12th, Sabbath.—Read prayers and preached at the military
chapel, Matt. xvi, ‘“ What shall it profit 2 man if he shall
gain the whole world and lose his own soul. In the afternoon
read the service at the small church at Rondebosch. Mr.
Judge, who was about to terminate his ministrations in this
village, preached his farewell sermon from the text “ Thy
Kingdom come,” in which he drew the attention of his
audience to the importance of missionary exertions, referring
to the Zulu mission and the intended meeting. Mr. Hough
was on the same subject at his own Churchin the morning,
preaching from Ps. xxiv 20, “ The dark places of the earth
are full of the habitations of cruelty.”

13th.—Met Mr. Hough to prepare resolutions for the meet-
ing. Those usually adopted at the formation of Missionary
Associations (several copies of which I had been favoured
with by the Society) were approved of. Sir Benjn. D’Urban
was named as President. The vice-Presidents were some of
the most respectable official characters at Cape Town, one
of the puisne Judges, Colonel Bell, the Governor’s secretary,
etc., together with Mr. Hough and Rev. Mr. Frazer, chaplain
at Simon’s Town. The secretary proposed was our friend
Mr. Judge, with an able and pious assistant. An alteration
was proposed (which had been suggested previously) in the
rule directing that the funds raised should be remitted to
the Parent Society. As it seemed to be the wish of everyone
that whatever funds were raised here should be applied to
the Society’s mission in South Africa, and as my instructions
expressly stated that such was to be their destination I
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cordially acquiesced in the proposal made by Mr. Hough to
that effect.

15¢th.—Public meeting in the Commercial room to form an
auxiliary Church Missionary Society for the Cape of Good
Hope, His Excellency Sir Benj® D’Urban in the chair.
Mr. Hough read my instructions. The usual resolutions,
with the alteration referred to above, were proposed and
carried. The Society was entitled “ The Cape of Good Hope
Church Missionary Association.” The meeting was numer-
ously and most respectably attended—great interest was
excited. The clergy present spake, together with Mr,
Musgrave and Capt® Gardiner, the latter of whom gave an
animated description of Zulu manners and character. Having
heard to-day, just before the meeting, that the Athol, Trans-
port ship, which had just arrived from England was ready to
sail early next morning to Algoa Bay for troops, I obtained
an order from the Governor to go by it.

16th.—Embarked on board the Athol with my family and
baggage. Weighed anchor at 1 O'clock P.M. Our friends
Mr. and Mrs. Judge, who had shown us the greatest hospi-
tality and kindness, accompanied us to the ship, promising
to send me an early account of the result of the meeting.

19th, Sabbath.—Service on the lower deck in the morning,
attended by the Captain and crew.

24th, Good Friday.—Service as on Sunday. Discoursed to
the seamen on our Saviour’s passion.

25th—Anchored in Algoa Bay before Port Elizabeth at
9 AM. Came on shore with my baggage and stores in
Government boats! procured for me by Captain Rarley, the
commander of the vessel. Took up our quarters at the
Inn.2

26th, Easter Day.—The Rev. Mr. McClelands called, colonial
chaplain at Port Elizabeth. Read prayers and assisted at the
communion. He expressed his great satisfaction at the
commencement of a mission by our Church in South Africa,

1 At this date there was no jetty of any kind at Port Elizabeth.
About this time namely, October, 1837, a commencement on the
structure of such a necessity was made. By utilizing, as a starting
point, the remains of a ship, the Feegee, which had been wrecked at
a short distance from the shore and which had withstood the violence
of the waves, a primitive jetty was commenced and finished in 1841,
In 1843 it was finished in another sense. A storm having driven ships
from their moorings, the Elizabeth Rowell, the Laura and the Sea Guil
collided with it and—" finished "' it.

2 Probably the old Phoenix Hotel.

3 The Rev. Francis McCleland was one of the settlers of 18z0—a
member of Parker's party in the East Indian. He was stationed first
with the party at Clanwilliam and then, in 1825, was appointed Colonial
Chaplain at Port Elizabeth,
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and said it was what he had long desired. He thought it not
improbable that an association might be formed here. A
respectable lay man, Mr. Welsford, the churchwarden, to_ok
an interest in the subject and promised to communicate with
others about it. In the afternoon attended some sick soldiers.
In the evening preached at the English Church. A notice
was read of a meeting on Tuesday next of the Committee of
the District Society for promoting Christian Knowledge,
when it was stated that I would attend and give such in-
formation as I had been furnished with respecting the objects
of the Church Missionary Society in South Africa. This
meeting ought regularly to have been held in the previous
week, but for some reason had been postponed.
27th—Several of the respectable inhabitants called, but I
was out and engaged most of the day in necessary business.
28th.—Saw a great many of the most respectable inhabitants
and members of our Church at their own houses. Consider-
able interest was manifested for the Mission, though the
leading laymen did not think it advisable to bring the matter
before the public till it was further established. A meeting
in the evening in the church of the District Committee of the
Society for promoting Christian Knowledge—which was
attended by several of the inhabitants.! After the reading
and adoption of the report, in which the object of my arrival
in the Colony was taken notice of and much satisfaction
expressed at the commencement of a new mission in South
Africa by the members of our Church, I read copious extracts
from my instructions. Such as I judged most suitable. The
chaplain then put the following resolution, ** That this district
committee view with feelings of the most unfeigned gratifica-
tion and with the liveliest anticipation of future benefit the
first effort now made by the Established Church to diffuse the
light of the Gospel among the Heathen tribes beyond the
boundaries of this Colony in the mission of the Rev. Mr. Owen
in connection with our Parent Church to the settlement of
Port Natal—an undertaking which calls for the earnest good
wishes and the warmest support of the Christian inhabitants
of South Africa.” This resolution was drawn up on the spot
by a respectable lay member of the Committee. It was
unanimously carried. Mr. McCleland gave me a reason to
hope that subscriptions would speedily be set on foot before
an association was regularly formed. The support that has
been given to the Society for promoting Christian Knowledge
since the establishment of a branch here in November, 1835,
when the Governor, being in this part of the Colony, took the
chair, furnishes a further hope that the minds of the few

1 Presumably respectable.
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who are strictly members of our Church in this place will
respond to the appeal now made to them on behalf of the
heathen of their own shores. The town contains from 1 to
2,000 inhabitants, In 1825, when the Chaplain was first
appointed, there were but three communicants of our Church.
On East Sunday there were about 2o0.

My last journal was carried down to my arrival at Port
Elizabeth, at the latter end of March. We left that place
on March 3oth in bullock waggons, which I hired, to proceed
to Grahamstown, where we arrived April 4th. The follow-
ing day I called on the Revd. Mr. Heavyside, the acting
chaplain, who received us with great kindness and invited
us into his house. He immediately proposed the formation
of a Branch Missionary Association at Graham’s Town, and
assisted me in making enquiries for an Interpreter, and in
sundry other business. Mr. Richard Hully was recommended
to me by the Wesleyan Missionaries as Interpreterand Artizan,
with whom I entered into an engagement in the manner and
on the terms already detailed to the Society, in a letter I have
written to Mr. Coates. I spent 3 Sundays at Graham’s
Town, on each of which I assisted Mr. Heavyside in the
service. On Sunday, April 16th, he preached an animated
and powerful sermon, for the Society, on the words, *“ Come
over and help us” etc., when the sum of £11 55. 4d. was
collected. On the following Wednesday a public meeting
was held in the Church, in the Evening, for the purpose of
forming an Albany Church Missionary Association; the
Lieu. Governor! presided. The meeting was addressed by
some of the respectable laity ; but was considerably disturbed
by the speech of a Captn Nicholson,2 from the gallery, who
sought to divert the attention of the meeting from its main
object, and to bring forward the case of the “ friendless
Boers."”” The political tone of this speech, more than any
thing absolutely faulty in it, excited the disapprobation of
all the best friends of the Mission ; as it was evidently an
attack on the Lieu.-Governor, and by the applause and
confusion which followed, was calculated to bring both
the meeting and the place where we were assembled into
contempt. Of course I took no notice of the motives and
evident intention of the speaker, but assuming that he was

1 Captain (afterwards Sir Andries) Stockenstrom.

2 Captain Nicholson mentioned here, together with a Lieutenant
Moultrie, were two military officers on leave from India for the purpose
of hunting. Having suffered less in connection with a certain treaty
which Lieutenant-Governor Stockenstrom had made with the Kaffirs
they attacked him and his political principles in the press—the
" Grahamstown Journal "—and had published a set of somewhat
scurrilous cartoons.

Qwen’s Diary. 7

right in his assertion, that the Boers claimed our compassion
no less than the Hottentots, Kafirs and Zooloos, I observed
that the principal object of the Church Missionary Society
was the conversion of the heathen, from which object we were
not to be diverted, however we might occasionally minister
to Europeans as they came in our way. After the meeting
about £10 was collected.

Having made such purchases as were needful for my
journey to Port Natal, and requested the firm of Mess. H. E.
Rutherford and Brother to act as my agents at Graham'’s
Town, I made ready for my departure. An account of my
journey will be seen in the following journal.

April 28th—Commenced our long journey this day to
Port Natal ; having, during my residence at Graham'’s Town,
purchased 2 waggons, 30 oxen, 2 horses and a tent. I had
the waggons carefully fitted up and furnished with tools and
a variety of other articles, necessary in African travelling.
Two European drivers and four coloured men accompanied
us : two of whom were Hottentots and the other two Zooloos,
or at least natives of Port Natal, whom I met within a native
village near the town. Mr. Heavyside and a party of friends
accompanied us on horseback out of the town and supped
with us at the first place where we outspanned. Before
taking their leave, they commended us to God in prayer ;
after which our ears were charmed and our hearts cheered
with accents of prayer from another quarter. Our two
Zooloos, with their wives and children, engaged in their
family worship, with a solemnity and pathos that were truly
affecting ; tho we could not understand the purport of
their petitions. Such apparent simplicity, seriousness, humility
and fervour I had seldom witnessed ; and this made abundant
amends for the annoyance I had been put to, in one of the
Hottentots being found on the floor at a canteen, at the time
when he ought to have been at his place at the waggon.

29th.—The Hottentot who had been dragged to the waggon
yesterday, in a state of intoxication, decamped before day-
light this morning, and I thus suffered for giving him a
month’s wages in advance, to support his family during his
absence : though I had taken the precaution to bind him to
me before a magistrate.

30ih, Sabbath—Having resolved not to travel on the
Lord’s Day, we gave ourselves and cattle rest ; Tejoicing in
that Divine Commandment which, if obeyed, secures equally
the glory of God and the happiness of man. Held service in
the tent. My discourse was interpreted by one of the drivers
into Dutch.  One of the Zooloos who had lived some time at
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Bunting,! a missionary station in Kafir land, showed consider-
able knowledge of the Christian scheme. He was able to
answer my questions far more satisfactorily than most of
our English labourers could have done.

May 1st.—Crossed the great Fish River, the boundary of
the Colony ; and immediately came into contact with the
natives, a large party of whom were seated on the opposite
bank. I now felt that I had entered the land of heathenism,
and longed for a tongue to speak to those few who were now
before me. But as I had not an Interpreter, so I felt also
discouragement arise in my mind, from the apparent frivolity
which I beheld in them. Their thoughtlessness and giddy-
ness, however, were perfectly consistent with their ignorance;
for these poor creatures know not that they have souls ; and
from them what can be expected? However we lament fheir
foolishness, they are at least consistent ; and their folly is
infinitely less than that of many nominal Christians.

2nd.—Arrived at Fort Peddie? and breakfasted with the
Captain. This is a military station occupied by the English,
for the protection of a large body of Fingoes, the remnants of
the scattered, or slaughtered tribes, who formerly took refuge
in Caffraria, from the murderous spear of Charka, Dingarns
bloody and triumphant predecessor, who desolated so large
a portion of Southern Africa. The Revd. W™ Shaw, Wesleyan
Missionary, was expected here to-day, to fix on a site for a
missionary station among these people.

3rd.—Crossed the Keiskamma river. Strict watch was
kept over our oxen, by night and by day, in consequence of
ths sad character the frontier Kafirs bear for dishonesty.
A large party of them overtook us, as we were walking at
some distance behind the waggons, armed with guns and
assegais. They inspired a momentary fear, but quietly
passed on, merely asking for tobacco ; an article of which the
frontier Kafirs are passionately fond. It is the one subject
of their requests. A heavy fall of rain, accompanied with
thunder and lightning, prevented us travelling above 3 or 4
miles to-day. As soon as we had spanned out, a company
of natives who had been hunting, came running down from
the heights with assegais and knobbed sticks. They mani-
fested curiosity to know who I was, and being informed that
I was a gentleman lately come from England, they asked me
Wena Kona? Art thou the King? They afterwards noticed
my glove, as something extraordinary and ludicrous and
peeped into it, when I held it up, both old and young, with an

1 Buntingville.

2 The route he took from Grahamstown, therefore, must have been
along the lower Peddie road, past Governor’'s Kop, Drivers Bush and
Trompetter’s drift, where he crossed the Great Fish River.
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ecstasy of delight, which was encreased beyond measure
when they saw me put it on my fingers. I deeply regretted,
however, that 1 was not able, for want of a suitable inter-
preter, to direct the unthinking minds of the accountable
beings, to subjects more worthy of their regard. In the
course of the day, my attention was directed to a company
of native youths, whose bodies, but more especially their
faces, were profusely daubed with white clay; and who, as
an additional ornament, wore some hare tails dangling down
on their foreheads. I could not suppose that this was any-
thing more than a temporary frolic; but upon enquiry,
learned that it is an important ceremony, which every Kafir
undergoes, when he arrives at the age of puberty.! Previous
to passing from boyhood to manhood, they are first circum-
cised ; then daubed with this white clay and appointed to
live separate from the rest of the community in a village by
themselves, under the care of a particular individual, for a
certain number of moons. Afterwards they return home to
their friends ; a great feast is made for them ; they are washed
from the white clay and daubed with red. All the grown
Kafirs are adorned with this, whenever they can procure
the material ; which serves them in the place of clothing, as
it protects their bodies from the drying effect of the sun and
wind. A Kafir youth, having gone thro' this ceremony is
now reckoned an * indoda " or man and is permitted to acquire
cattle, or to possess a kraal for himself. By means of my
driver and a native who understood Dutch, I asked these poor
youths some of the plainest questions on the Divine Being
and his works ; but they were utterly ignorant or, at least,
would not take the trouble to consider my questions, that they
might answer them,

5th—A party of natives surprised me whilst I was behind
a bush dressing. Everything was an object of curiosity to
them, particularly a small looking glass, by which they saw
their faces reflected. Their behaviour however was perfectly
civil, tt_iough somewhat troublesome, as one desired me to
shave him, another to lend him my toothbrush, a third to try
on my glove, .

6th.—The weather permitting, we spanned in about ncon
and arrived in the course of the day at King Williams Town,2

1 Ukutshila wabakweta—the circumcision dance.

2 At this date King Williams Town was nothing more than the
temporary buildings which had been erected in connection with the
military establishment. It had been founded as a township by Col.
(afterwards Sir Harry) Smith on May, 24, 1835, but abandoned in
1836 when the “ Durban policy " was overthrown and, as it was
Ba::iénl{afﬁ;liapd _\:as g'iveln back to the Kaffirs. So that when Mr

assed it, it was A ’s missi stati
Amatigde A2 Ka.ﬂ?:sy Mr. Brownlee’s mission station among the
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on the Buffalo river, a Missionary station of the _London
Society, in the tribe of Jan Tatzoe the Christian Chief. Mr.
Brownlee the Missionary received us with much kindness
and afforded us hospitality. He also furnished me with some
translations in the Kafir language and a compendium of Kafir
grammar by Mr. Davies, Wesleyan Missionary. ]

5th and 6th.—Engaged most of these days on the road in
comparing the words used in the Kafir translations given me
by Mr. Brownlee, with the rules for their formation given in
the grammar. My two Zooloo men are able to give me some
assistance in the pronunciation, and in the names of many
external objects. Arrived on Saturday evening at Fort
Wellington, a military station occupied by our forces, during
the late war. Nothing now remains of it but the bare walls.

7th, Sabbath.—The first Lord’s day I have spent in a Heathen
land, when I made a commencement, tho’ a feeble one, of my
missionary labours. Delivered a short dis-course to my
servants by the aid of my Interpreter who had met me.
Shortly after, a company of Kafirs assembled at the waggons,
when I took the opportunity of entering into conversation
with them. In answer to my enquiry whether they ever
thought of what would become of them after death, one of
them with great unconcern replied : How can we think of
what we know nothing about? They laughed y.rhex‘lf I ques-
tioned them about their Maker, but one man replied God "
for the Kafirs have a general notion of one Supreme Being,
whom they call Uteco; the signification of which word is
unknown ; but he said, that their chief ha}d not yet told them,
that they must serve God; when their chief commanded
them to serve him they would ; but mt!lout their chief’s
order, they could do nothing ; having no idea of any other
service than that which was outward or instituted. He
afterwards promised that when they had the word of God
explained to them, they would do it. I then gave hima short
account of the sufferings of our blessed Saviour and of the
end of his coming into the world ; that he was wounded f01:
our transgressions, and bruised for our iniquities ; that tho
he was rich, yet for our sakes he became poor, during which
discourse he was very serious and attentive; and seemed
inclined to listen a much longer time. g

8th, oth, 1oth, 11th, 12th.—In consequence of rain, we
proceeded but a few miles on our journey, the first of these
days, and the rain continuing, we were d(?tamed till the
12th, it being dangerous and almost impracticable to travel
when the roads are slippery ; the yokes also h_urtmg the necks
of the oxen. During these days we abode in our tent and
improved the time as well as we could, chiefly in the study
of the Kafir language ; endeavouring to trace the derivation
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and formation of many words. By a comparison of many
Kafir words in St. John's Gospel with the English, I dis-
covered, with the further aid of the grammar, the general
method of declension and conjugation. On the twelfth the
weather being fair and the roads dry, we proceeded to Fort
Warden, the remains of the last military station occupied by
our troops in the late war,

13th—Descended the steep and romantic bank of. the
Kei, the rocky scenery of which stream was superlatively
grand. We found the river easily fordable, notwithstanding
the late rains. Great difficulty was experienced in ascending
the opposite bank, one span of oxen being obliged to help
the other.

14th, Sabbath—Whit Sunday. My Interpreter was not
present to-day ; nevertheless assembled my whole party on the
grass, natives as well as Europeans. Several native women
and children joined us of their own accord, and behaved
with strict propriety. After reading a selection from our
beautiful liturgy, I discoursed on some words suitable to
the occasion, which occurred in the Psalms for the day.
““ Ethiopia shall soon stretch out her hands unto God.”

I5th—Arrived at Butterworth! and were most kindly
welcomed by Mrs. Ayliffe, the Missionary’s wife (Mr. Ayliffe
himself not being at home). She sent an invitation fo us
to span out opposite her house. The sound of the hammer
was heard, the instrument employed in rebuilding the temple
of God, which had been demolished in the war. This station
is situated only a few miles from the Kraal of the greatest
of all the Amakosi chiefs, Riliz, the present chief, the son
of the late Hintza, is now a long way from home.

16th—Nomza, the Queen dowager, Hintza's principal
wife, accompanied with an inferior wife, paid us a visit in
our tent, this morning ; Mr. Fynn an interpreter happening
to be present. They had no sooner taken their seats, than
Nomza began the conversation by saying ‘‘ The chief’s
mother is come to ask the teacher for a present,” and then
(not choosing to venture so important a request in the hands

LAt Butterworth Mr. Owen was joined by Mr. Hulley, who was to
act as his interpreter. Writing to D. Coates, Esq., June 5, 1837, Mr.

0\.ve_n says: “ He (Hulley) was recommended to me by the Wesleyan
missionaries at Grahamstown who gave him an excellent character.
He was then at Butterworth, one of their stations in Caffreland . . .
He offered his services to me thro’ Mr. Ayliffe, the missionary at Butter-
worth, who knew him perfectly well and spoke most highly of him

with the office of Interpreter he unites that of artizan,
and two children.

2 Kreli.
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of our Interpreter) made signs that one thing she wanted
was tobacco. I endeavoured to lead the way to religious
conversation, but she had no ear for any topic of this nature,
and was indeed rather reserved and silent in her whole man-
ner. Yet she has been a great friend to the Missionaries ;
and in times of emergency, shews herself a woman of great
mind and character. She appeared vastly pleased with my
present, consisting of two bunches of beads, a handkerchief
and a role of tobacco ; giving me a hearty shake of the hand
in token of her approbation. She then fixed her eyes on
some buttons and said that she was come to see a friend,
and therefore everything she saw was pretty. Her “ ama-
pakati ” or counsellors (for the chief government is in her
hand) sat on the outside of the tent. She departed without
without any salutation and went into the Missionary’s house.

17th—Mr. Ayliffe returned home last night ; and this
morning I received a long lesson from him in the Kafir lang-
vage. He was particularly useful in directing me in the
pronunciation. Our morning’s study was at length inter-
rupted by the entrance of Nohudi, the wife of Rili the chief,
accompanied by one female attendant. There was nothing
to distinguish either her, or her Mother, in point of dress
from other native women. I offered her the same presen-
I had given her Mother, which she deposited in a bag con-
taining her pipe and other treasures. She wore two wolves
teeth on her necklace for a charm. Though utterly dead
to God, her manners were very pleasing and her countenance
amiable. She was almost the only person I had met, who
did not beg for a present ; but on Mrs. Owen observing that
her beads wanted a little polish, she wittily said “ then you
should present me with some new ones.”

18th.—Departed from our friends’ house with prayer.
Our party was now encreased by the addition of my Inter-
preter and his family, who occupied a third waggon. Our
whole party now amounted to about 23 ; whom I assembled
at night and read the general confession and Lord’s prayer
in Kafir ; having first learned to translate, parse and pro-
nounce with sufficient accuracy every word, as far as I was
able.

19th—The Zoolu, whose fervency of utterance in prayer
surprised and pleased me so much at the beginning of the
journey and who had not ceased to pray, night and morning,
with his family, shewed his true temper and character today,
and discovered how little confidence is to be placed in know-
ledge, words, and the gift of prayer. He threatened to
throw an assegai at my driver in a quarrel and on my step-
ping forward, swore by his chief Dingarn (the fatal word)
that he would go no further. Having sworn by his chief
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it was impossible for him to retract ] tho' I remonstrated
with him on the sinfulness of his conduct and its incon-
sistency with the religion he had professed. This he ac-
knowledged ; saying that his behavicur he knew was wrong
in the sight of God, of man and of Jesus. He drew with
him the other Zooloo, his companion and friend and they
both set off with their wives and children to walk to Port
Natal, leaving me without proper leaders to my waggons;
and having no other means of subsistence for themselves

than what their guns or charity might afford.
zoth—LEntered the Tambookie, or Amatembu country ;
when I hired a native for some buttons, to go with me to
the Bashee. In the course of the day, the Zooloo who had
not taken an oath and who, it appears, had immediately
fallen out with his companions, returned and begged to be

restored to my service.

21st, Sabbath—Before service time, about 7 natives came
to the waggons. They immediately accepted an invitation
to attend, and behaved with the strictest propriety. 1
read the “ Te Deum ” and other prayers in Kafir and gave
a short analysis of the first 3 chapters of Genesis. One man
in particular I observed to listen, without his attention
once wavering. At the conclusion of my discourse, I asked
Have you understood all these things' They smiled
but the man referred to acknowledged their entire ignorance
of the _W{er of God, as they did not go to the schools, meaning
the mission stations, to hear it, their chiefs not having gi\'t-ﬁ
them an order so to do. Has your chief forbidden ‘you to
go? No, but when he orders us and goes himself we will
then follow.” Did your chief order you to come here today %
No! I came because I heard of the waggons. Then if you
can come to the waggons without an order from your chief,
why cannot you as well go to the schools without his order ?
He laughed, seemed pleased, and said he must now give in
to me. I then endeavoured to enforce upon them the neces-
sity of seeking a removal of their spiritual blindness by an
allusion to what they would do if they were naturally blind
and knew of one who could give them sight. In the after-
noon, my Interpreter accompanied me to a neighbouring
village, as I hoped to have some conversation with tl?(: natives.
i&n old woman, Who sat at the door (_)f her hut, asked me, as
approached her, for a handkerchief. I had a long, but
unsatisfactory conversation with her. When I en Juired
if she had ever hear ¢ Christ, s k s, 1
e had ever heard of Jesus Christ, she asked me in what
;:Iour}try he lived. She denied that she was a sinner, tho’
wglgg‘sigf:teggi(-}tﬁ:n;:: atohfl, 1511'(-. rarckI:lc,\\'ltw:lg.{ocl that lying
B i o -cncourga - 1e waggons, I had a much more
ging conversation with the man
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who had heard me in the morning. I asked, what do you
think of the word of God, which you heard this morning ?
He again confessed his ignorance, but said, he was glad to
hear it. I asked, if he knew that he had a soul, which would
survive the body and live for ever and ever ? His answer
to this question was somewhat singular and shewed con-
siderable reflection. He said, he did not know that he had
anything more than his breath, which he was continually
drawing ; but at the same time, he could believe, that after
death, his life might be restored : for during sleep, he was
unconscious of existence and was as tho’ he were dead ; yet
by and by he felt his life return ; it was the same as before
he slept ; all was right again ; so it might be, that after death
itsclf, he might be quickened again into life. I asked him
if he knew Jesus Christ the Son of God, who shed his blood
for him. He confessed his ignorance on this subject. I
then asked him, do you know yourself to be a sinner ? He
said that whilst I was speaking to him, he felt that he was
one. I told him that to feel ourselves sinners was the first step
to salvation and then read and enlarged upon a variety of texts
of Scripture, containing promises to the penitent ; also such
passages as were calculated to awaken, as well as to en-
courage him. He listened standing with fixed attention
for about 2 hours ; during which time, I brought a large
portion of the word of God before him. After all however,
the man rather disappointed me by asking for a present ;
but the custom of asking for presents is so general with the
natives, that it was not so discouraging a circumstance as
might at first sight be imagined.

22nd—My attentive and patient hearer, with whom I
conversed so long yesterday, came early to the waggons
this morning ; not however for the purpose of hearing any
more of God’s word, as his first salutation was the usual
one “ Basela,” give me a present. As soon however as I
called to his mind the word which he had heard yesterday
he observed, that if I were going to stay, they would be
enlightened; but now, as I was leaving them, they should
remain in blindness. I told him, that if he were faithful
to the word which I taught him yesterday, God would send
him a Teacher. I further told him, that tho’ I would not
give him a present, I was not less his friend on that account ;
to which he expressed thorough satisfaction, saying it was
good good. He evidently realized me as a Teacher, and
the word which I spoke to him, as God's word ; tho’ he was
altogether ignorant of it. He felf his ignorance and had
some convictions of sin. He moreover had a desire to hear
more of God’s word and was fixed in attention to that part
which he did hear. Doubtless, there are many more such
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characters in Caffreland ; and are not these persons prepared
for the Gospel ? Are they too blind to receive it ? or are
their prejudices too great to be removed ? Proceeded on
my journey, thanking God and taking courage. Crossed
the Bashee.

23rd—The weather now delightful, the sky generally
without a cloud ; the days warm as in England at this period
of the year, but the nights frosty. No road now but the
tracks of former waggons, which are scarcely perceptible
on account of the overgrown grass.

24th—One of the oxen being missed, the drivers traced
the “spoor " or footmarks of it to a neighbouring kraal,
and demanded the animal of the inhabitants, as by Kafir
law they were responsible for it. Tho’ they at first menaced
and insulted my interpreter and his companions, so that
they were obliged, thro’ fear, to return to the waggons, yet
the natives, fearing we should bring a charge against them
before their chief, and subject them to restitution 6 or seven
fold, finally brought the ox to the waggons, saying they
found it.

25th—Descended the precipitous hills on the Western
bank of the Umtata. With great care, all the waggons,
one by one, safely reached the bottom of these mountains.
We were now entering an uninhabited country, the Tam-
bookies having being driven by Faku, the chief of the Ama-
pondas, from all the country eastward of the Umtata ; the
former nation being the aggressors. In the course of the
day we passed a “‘ luck heap " or a large pile of stones, every
one of which is a monument of superstition. A set of men,
who pretend a knowledge of medicine and to cure persons,
who are bewitched, teach the natives to cast a stone on a
given spot, every time they pass by, in order to ensure felicity,
This spot is pointed out and consecrated by the doctor him-
self, who casts the first stone. This was the second heap
we had passed. Thus they acknowledge a Providence, or
governing power beyond them ; tho’ not understanding the
providential care of Almighty God, they seek deliverance
from danger and sickness by these rain methods ; the folly of
which is probably confessed by themselves.

26th.—Crossed the Umtata river, the rocky scenery of
which is inferior in magnificence to that of the Kei only.

27th—My Interpreters waggon was overturned ; happily
no one was in it, but the accident considerably delayed our
journey.

28th, Sabbath.—We spent this day in a wilderness far
from any human being. English service.

29th.—No travelling today in consequence of the horses
having strayed. )
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3o0th, 31st.—Proceeded on our journey towards Bunting-
ville. Mr. Boyce, the Missionary, saw our waggons at a
great distance, and expecting my arrival, came forward on
horseback to meet us. We returned home with him, leaving
the waggons to follow the next day.

June 1st—At daybreak the sound of the Church bell
called the natives to prayer, as is usual here 3 times a week.
Evening service in the Church, conducted by Mr. Boyece,
who preached in Dutch, a native convert interpreting. The
number of attendants was large.

2nd.—Spent a great part of the day in the study of Kafir
with Mr. Boyce.

4th, Sabbath.—Service twice in the Church, which was
very well attended. The number and eagerness of the
children in the Sunday school gratified me. In the evening
I expounded in the house to the few English at the settlement.

5th and 6/h.—Notwithstanding the pleasure enjoyed by
a visit at this settlement and the delights of conversation
with the truly sensible man whose guest I was, my heart
sprang forward with desire to reach the end of my journey ;
and I regetted that circumstances delayed us these two
days.

*}Y;:.—Set forward on my journey to Port Natal, it being
the very day twelvemonth since I gave myself, by the
will of the Lord, to the mission with which I have since
been entrusted. Not being able to take my Interpreters’
waggon forward, except at enormous expense, I put the
loads of 3 waggons into two. Hired 5 additional hands to
go with us as far as the Umzimvubu, to hold the waggons
up in steep and difficult places ; having to pass over a moun-
tainous country. Their assistance was soon needed, hav-
ing to ascend a mountain which required both spans to each
waggon.

8th.—On arriving at a village near Faku's Kraal, about
200 natives were assembled for the purpose of holding a
great ““ beer drinking,” at which Faku was to be present.
The chief sent to signify he was coming to see me, to enquire
the news. Presently he made his appearance (a tall elderly
man) and having first advanced slightly towards me, retired
and sat on the ground, in the front of his people, who now
observed great silence. I went toward him and informed
him who I was and for what purpose I was travelling. He
said it was very good and that he was glad to see me travell-
ing thro’ his country. He then commanded a native
to declare aloud to the people what was my errand. This
being done he immediately asked me for a present and said
that two things he wanted were an axe and a tin pot ; neither
of which I had to spare. I invited him to come and sit
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before the waggon, but he declined a mat saying he never
used a mat, but when he was in his house. He ordered 2
baskets of beer to be placed before me. I promised to give
him a present in the morning, tho’ he seemed impatient to
have one immediately, asking me to give him some “ little
thing now, such as he could carry away in his hand and
that he would have the large thing tomorrow. At length
he departed to the feast, followed by his subjects ; saying
“ Tell the Teacher I will see him in the morning "’ ; and I
had no doubt he would be true to his engagement.

gth.—Spanned in early. The waggons had not proceeded
far, when they were stopped by order of Faku, till I came up.
I found him attended by about roo of his men. After he
had shaken hands with me, according to the English fashion,
he modestly asked for an ox and beads. The former I refused
to give him, tho" he pointed to a particular ox in the span,
as the object of his choice. As for beads, he was not satisfied
till I had given him all that his eye caught a glimpse of;
for he followed me to the waggon box and peeped in to see
what it contained. He then asked for a knife, which I gave
him, and I was at length glad to get away, Faku’s mother sent
many miles after me to beg a knife.

T0th—Our road today continued to wind over a range
of lofty hills which did not admit of 10 yards of level ground.
Our progress is in consequence so slow, that we do not ad-
vance in a direct course above 4 or 5 miles a day. This
evening, halted in the mountains of the Umzimvubu.

11th, Sabbath—About 20 natives, in addition to those
of my party, attended our service and behaved, as usual,
with propriety. At the conclusion of my discourse, after
my own party had dispersed, the strangers remained, as if
tivetted to the ground, standing in silence, with their eyes
fixed on me. Thinking this a good opportunity of speaking
to them, I called my Interpreter back and asked if they
understood what I had been saying to them and referred
to a particular portion of my discourse, concerning the
resurrection and asked if they believed it. Their answer,
however, characteristic of ignorance and weakness, shews,
at least that they have not a cavelling spirit. They said,
they believed because they did not think that a gentleman
like me would come and tell them a lie. After I had given
them the reasons of my faith, and illustrated the resurrection
by the reproduction of a grain of corn, they expressed, of
their own accord, their willingness to hear anything more
that I had to teach them. I proceeded to speak of man'’s
fallen nature and intended afterwards to speak of the
Saviour ; but first, having brought them to assent to the truth,
that they were guilty before God, I asked them if they knew
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the means of their recovery, or how they were to be restored
to the Divine favour. The chief speaker, not being able to
answer, looked round on his companions and as they were
equally at a loss, apparently ashamed of his ignorance, he
withdrew : after which I dismissed this interesting assembly,
not without feelings of pity for these poor souls, so vast in
number, so confessedly ignorant, so ready to learn and yet
so destitute of the means of instruction. The whole country
between Buntingville and the Umzimvubu is thickly popu-
lated and affords a fine and open field for missionary labour,
being under the dominion of a chief Faku, who, from what-
ever motive is favourable to Missionaries.

12th.—Our chief object today was to effect a des-cent to
the Umzimvubu, the most perilous adventure on our journey.
The ordinary road being deemed unsafe, a new road was
formed by cutting down some trees in a part of the mountain,
where no traveller had yet ventured with a waggon. The
road thus made was more precipitous than the former, tho’
on other accounts less objectionable. All the wheels being
chained and the waggon held up behind by 5 men, by means
of reams!, or thick strings of bullock hide, fastened om,
they descended the mountain, till they reached the river
without damage.

13th.—Dismissed the 5 men, whom I hired at Bunting,
but took forward one other man as a guide. i

14th—Travelling, today and yesterday, more easy ; which
gives me a better opportunity for pursuing my studies on
the road.

15th—We had now entered the country inhabited by the
tribe of another chief called Napai2, This is usually called,
by the frontier Kafirs, the Ficani, or robber tribe; from
their numerous depredations on their neighbours. The
horses having strayed, we were detained all day and whilst
the men were gone to look for them, a large party of natives,
amounting to about 50 or 60, seated themselves by the side
of my waggon. As I went towards them, they were as mute
and fixed their eyes on me, as steadily, as if they had never
seen a white man before. As soon as my Interpreter came,
I told them I would read a portion of the word of God to
hem ; and opening my Bible read the parable of the lost
Sheep in Luke XV. When I had finished, I asked if they
understood ? Having no idea of the nature of a parable,

1 reims.

2 Necapai, chief of the Amabaca, dwelt on the upper reaches of the
Umzimkulu tiver. He was an intrepid and warlike thief—and a
scourge to all, near and far,
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they asked, if I was speaking of my own sheep, or of some
others man’s. Upon this I endeavoured to explain to them, how
we were the lost sheep as we had all strayed away from God
and how Jesus Christ was the good Shepherd, who had come
to bring us back to God, one man, who was the chief organ
of the party, denied that they were sinners, asking when
had they ever ill-treated a white man, passing thro’ their
country. I endeavoured to explain to them the nature
of God’s law : and how it required duties to him, which they
had not preformed, as well as to their neighbours. They
seemed however to have no notion of any thing as sin, but
what was an injury to their neighbours; and pressed for
information respecting those points of duty, which regarded
their fellow creatures; asking “ Suppose for example, one
man was to meet another and fight with him, would that be
sin 2 I told them that unless their hearts were changed,
even tho’ I should acquaint them with their duty, they
could not do it, as the heart was cramped by sin, and nothing
good could proceed from ; and that this was the character of
all men by nature, both white people and black. They said,
that our hearts might be proud and wicked ; but that they
had not wicked hearts. At length after a great deal of
conversation, they began to talk among themselves on what
they had heard, particularly on the parable; when the
master of the kraal said, they thanked me for the word of
God and that when they went home, they would talk over
it with their children. I asked if a Teacher were to come
and live among them, would they be glad ? They said,
if their chief allowed him to reside in the country, they
would hear him. The conversation was then renewed,
when they asked me, what ought to be done to a person
who bewitched another ? I said it was not my business
to say, what man should do to him ; but God would punish
every sin with everlasting fire. They said they were glad
that God would punish him, as well as the man ; for there
were many persons in the country who went about bewitching
their neighbours. I waived entering into a discussion on
this subject. The whole conversation lasted about 2 hours ;
when the chief speaker said, the state of the grass shewed
how many had been listening to me and for how long a time ;
and now, he hoped, I would give them a present and they
would tell their friends that they had seen not a common
white man only, but a teacher. I begged them to think of
what they had heard and went away. I {elt deeply interested
during the conversation ; and secretly prayed for wisdom,
whilst my Interpreter was delivering my words. I trust
I shall better know, after every succeeding conversation,
the proper way of bringing forward the truth.
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16th.—Some men who had heard the conversation yester-
day, and who had passed by the waggons on their return from
a dance, at the time of our evening worship, whilst I was
reading the account of our Savour’s healing the blind man,
and had stayed to listen, asked one of my men this morning
who Jesus Christ was of whom I was reading last night.
He told them that before he went away into Heaven, he
commanded the white people, to make him known to all
nations. They then enquired whether I were a trader and
if I had any object to gain in going to Dingarn. When he
replied that this was not my object, they said “ there must
be something in it then for the white people to take so much
pains.” Crowds of people, all destitute of a Missionary,
flocked round our waggons as we were commencing our
journey this morning. These were the last inhabitants
on the road. The rest of our journey lies thro” a country
depopulated by the spear of Dingarn’s predecessor.

17th.—1 fell from my horse twice this day, by the creature’s
treading in an ant-eater’s hole.

18th, Sabbath.—English service before the tent.

1gth.—Crossed the Umzimkaba river a little above the
fall. I can scarcely express my astonishment and admira-
tion at the magnificent sight, which this fall afforded.
The width of it was about 100 feet, and the depth must have
measured full 700 feet of perpendicular rock. The view
from this eminence would afford scope for the pencil of the
finest artist in the world ; a more beautiful combination of
wood and rock and water cannot exist. Nature, in this
retired spot, displays her beauties and wonders without an
eye to admire them or a tongue to sing the praises of her
great author ! The beasts of prey, which dwell in the thicket
and the birds of beautiful plumage, which build their nests
in the rock are the only inhabitants here. But as it is not
my province to describe the natural scenery of the country
thro’ which I travel, I pass on, simply recording the ex-
quisite delight I took, in beholding this never to be for-
gotten sight.

20#h.—Our men today shot a large eland.

21st.—Arrived at the beach, at the mouth of the Um-
zimkaba, which we again crossed. Halted at the mouth of
another beautiful river, without name, remarkable for its
rocks, waterfalls and the beautiful foliage on its banks.

22nd. —Arrived at the Umtendo! river, which we crossed
without much difficulty, but to ascend the opposite bank was
found impossible, it being not only lofty and steep, but
composed of uneven masses of rock and the path so narrow

1 The Umtentu in-Pondoland.
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that there was scarcely room for the waggon to pass. During
the vain attempt which was made to ascend the hill, I with-
drew from the sound of the lash and indulged myself with
a solitary ramble on the fine sands, which skirt this magni-
Gcent river. It flows between two ranges of lofty perpen-
dicular mountains. Here, as at the Umzimkaba, nature
has displayed her beauties in a style which reflects glory
on her great Author. The hand of art never exerted itself
in this rude, unfrequented spot ; yet the rocky side of this
stream, adorned as it is with plants of incomparable beauty,
exceeds all praise. Tho’ unable myself to appreciate all
the uses, beauties and wonders of the vegetable creation,
I saw in this single spot abundant traces of Infinite power
and glory. I might say “ The earth is full of His riches ;
where can I go and not find him ? All his works praise
him,"

237d.—The waggons having been unloaded, they were
at length dragged up over the huge shelves of rock, which
rendered the road impassable yesterday. The luggage was
carried up the hill ; and this, with the process of unloading
and loading, occupied so much time, that we proceeded only
a short distance today and that partly in the dark. By
some mismanagement, my waggon was on the very point
of being overturned, with Mrs. and Miss Owen in it ; but
the danger was averted by the breaking of the pole; by
which means the waggon resumed its right position. I
had more cause to be thankful than to be grieved at the
accident.

24th—My patience was much tried this day by the con-
tinued delays, which impeded our progress. The afternoon
arrived before the oxen could be found ; then the weather
threatened to detain us. At length when we had, after
much difficulty, got under weigh, my Interpreter’s waggon
was capsized, by the wheel going over a rock, before it had
proceeded a very few yards. The labour of restoring it to
its right position, with the tedious process of unloading and
reloading, occupied so much time, that we were benighted
on the beach, before we could reach a place to abide in for
the night, which we could say was perfectly secure from the
tide. We got however on an eminence of sand and waited
the dawn in the waggon.

25th, Sabbath.—Travelled a few miles along the beach
this morning in search of a resting place for the day. At
length pitched our tent on an eminence facing the sea and
held Kafir service as usual.

26th.—Determining to lay hold of the opportunity of
favourable weather, we spanned in earlier than usual and
hoped to make a good days’ journey before any rain. Our
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progress however was interrupted by the tide and we had
to wait some hours, till it had subsided. Three travellers
who had joined our waggons, in a former part of the journey
perceiving the slow progress we made, determined to proceed
onward alone. Before they left, I spoke to one of them
who was ill and on whose account they were anxious to
press forward. I asked, if he knew what would become of
him, if it should please God to take away his life. He said
that since his illness he had often thought of God, but he
had never thought of his death. I asked him if he knew
how to pray. He said, No, but if he had been able to go
with the white people, he might have learned, meaning,
if he had been able still to accompany us on our journey.
I asked him, if he knew himself to be a sinner. He did not
say that he was not a sinner ; but he was not conscious that
he was one. He said moreover, that he did not know what
other sin there was, than to steal cattle, but if he had been
able to go with the white people he would have learned.
Thus did ignorance and teachableness characterize this
man ; and these are the prevailing characters of the natives
whom I have conversed with. The waters having suffi-
ciently receded, we continued our journey along the beach ;
but had not proceeded far, when in passing over some rocks,
the pole of my waggon was broken the second time ; and
as I had no other to supply the place, a sudden end was put
to this day’s journey (after we had contrived to draw the
waggon off the shore) much to my disappointment.

27th.—Incessant rain prevented us travelling all day,
Tho' confined to my tent, I was happily and busily employed,
from morning to night, writing,

28th.—The weather sufficiently fair in the afternoon to
allow us to proceed on our journey ; a new pole having been
constructed. Before, however, we had proceeded many
miles, my waggon and oxen sunk in a deep bog. The latter
having been extricated, they were employed with the assis-
tance of the other span, to drag the waggon out backwards.
In doing this, the chain and tackling were broken 4 times ;
and not until the waggon was unloaded, could it be stirred
from its awkward situation. The consequence of all this
was, that we were obliged to halt the first convenient oppor-
tunity, as from the danger sustained by the tackling, we
could not yoke in a sufficient number of oxen*.

LeETTER FROM CAPTAIN GARDINER To D. CoareEs EsQ., SALISBURY
House, LoNDoN.
Ambanati on the Umtongate,
My dear Sir June 28th, 1837.
We have just heard of Mr. Owen’s arrival with his party within a
shor( distance of Port Natal and I take the opportunity of an overland
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29th.—The tackling having been mended, we proceeded
on our journey; but only to meet with another disappoint-
ment. In going down an awkward hill my waggon was
overturned ; tho’ in this as in the other case, no further evil
was occasioned but a trying delay. Though common pru-
dence might be immediate cause which led my family
always to leave the waggon, where there was any appearance
of danger, yet for the exercise of that prudence, even in the -
common occurrences of life, I am willing to be indebted to
Him, who gives man reason; who enables us to foresee
danger, and to choose the means for avoiding it. Without
his continual influence over our minds and actions, all our
natural prudence and caution would soon forsake us; and
we should daily run into danger.

30th.—Some of our cattle almost knocked up. These
patient creatures daily afford me an emblem of that per-
severance, which is the cardinal virtue of a Missionary.

despatch to forward a few lines lest you should be long without any
account of our proceedings. I have recently returned from a visit
to Dingarn who received me most cordially.  He has requested that
a Missionary station should be formed at his capital Unkunginghlove
and has acceded to my request for another at Congella, both of which
I have engaged shall be occupied in the name of the Society, Mr. Owen
having authorised me to take this responsibility should an eligible
opening occur. Had the huts at Cululu, which have been burnt down
by accident, been still standing, the removal of that station would
have been desirable as the American missionaries, at the desire of
Dingarn have established themselves on the Umsondoosi within a
very short distance from the spot. A large body of natives will shortly
be assembled at this place, they are already beginning to build a town
and I have little doubt but that in the course of a very few months
they will amount to several hundreds. Foortu (?) has already paid
me a visit, many of the Mthlangwani and Mangalosi are coming, and
it is not improbable that the whole of these two tribes will join me
besides many of the natives from Port Natal. The two projected
stations in the Zoolu country have a peculiar importance not only
on account of the population being large, but as it is Customary for
all the principal men to reside for several months in the year with
the King, so that on their return to their own places they will impart
most that they have learnt and will create a spirit of inguiry on re-
ligious subjects throughout the country. Dingarn has promised to
have a hut erected on the spot for the Mission Station near
Unkungunglove, with a door high enough to admit of its being entered
without crawling. For the first year or two it will be as well to supply
him occasionally with presents as he will return cattle, not otherwise
to be procured, the sale of cows having been prohibited throughout
his dominions. has been his practice towards the American
Missionaries and he is now sending to procure corn for me of which
I am much in need. It is my intention to offer Mr. Owen a tract of
land near my own residence for the Mission Station, t> among the
natives residing here as there will be full occupation for a missionary.
It is high time he was here as the sowing season is now commencing.
- « - . Very sincerely yours,
ALLEN F. GARDINER.
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One of them worked for me till he died almost in the yoke.
So might I work for God, as long as life and being last.

July 1st.—Great difficulty was experienced in crossing
the mouth of a river. It occupied a full hour, to get one of
the waggons across a narrow rocky stream. The rivers on
this part of the coast are very numerous. We meet with
one every two or three miles, but their mouths are generally
choked up with sand-banks.

2nd, Sabbath.—Kafir service before the tent.

3rd—My oxen were again swamped, and greater diffi-
culty was found in extricating them than before. Some
were obliged to be dragged out by the combined forces of
all the men with reams tied to the horns.

4th—Arrived in the evening at the banks of the Um-
zimkulu, or great river, about 2 miles above its mouth.
No other difficulties today than such as arose from heavy
sand hills.

5th.—Commenced the crossing of the river at low water,
It was found, however, impracticable to land the waggons
on the opposite bank, from the depth of the mud into which
they sank. My Interpreters waggon remained all night
in the water and our own stood in an inclined position at
the brink.

6th—The momning was occupied in clearing away part
of the mud, and otherwise mending the road. One waggon
by this means got safely up; but the other stuck so fast
and the oxen pulled so vehemently, that they carried away
the pole and left the waggon in the mud. A new pole being
constructed, however, both waggons were at length dragged
to the top of the bank,

7th—No travelling today, in consequence of one of the
most important oxen having strayed.

8th.—The stray ox being found, we resumed our journey,
but only to meet with a fresh disaster. After a long and
fruitless attempt to drive his waggon up a dangerous hill,
my Interpreter again capsized it ; and on this occasion the
whole of the top part of the waggon was broken to pieces.

oth, Sabbath.—In the confusion of last night the horses
were suffered to stray ; and as the men were all day in search
of them there was no service. But in the evening (Mr.
Ogle, a settler at Port Natal and a party of his men having
met us) I expounded to them the parable of the prodigal
son ; or rather made it a vehicle of communication to them
a description of the miserable state of the heathen or black
people, as without God, and without hope, comparing them
to the younger son, shewing at the same time his infinite
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mercy, and his readiness to bestow on them the same p_ri-
vi?egcg; and happiness, which he had conferred on the white
people, whom I compared to the elder son.

10th.—Two of the oxen having fallen into pits and others
being nearly knocked up, I determined to leave my Inter-
preter and his waggon behind; and to proceed forward
with my own waggon and the choice of the oxen, hoping
thus to arrive at Port Natal much sooner, when I could
send a span for my Interpreter.

11th and 12th.—Travelled with greater speed than any
day since we left Bunting. '

13th.—Notwithstanding unusual care in my driver and
leader, the waggon was again capsized in going down a
difficult hill ; the danger of which was concealed by the
long grass. The driver who was on the box was thrown
off, and narrowly escaped with his life. My family also
had got out at the top of the hill, according to custom ;
otherwise they might have been seriously hurt. This was
a new occasion for thanksgiving to the God of our life, }vho
encompasses us about with mercies. Arrived by moonlight
at the settlement of Cane, an Englishman. We now entered
a country which was partially inhabited ; the natives living
under the protection of different English settlers, whom
they regarded as their chiefs; these natives I understand,
being the remains of various tribes.

14th—Delighted to see the coast of Natal this day at
noon, as we were travelling on the beach.

15th.—The traces of three lions were distinctly seen on
the sand this morning. Crossed the Umkomas river at
low water. The descent was very difficult, but was accom-
plished without injury.

16th, Sabbath.—English service under the shade of a tree.

17th—Arrived at Ogle’s settlement, where we were de-
tained by rain.

18th—No travelling, all the oxen having strayed. We
found great difficulty in getting a supply for our necessary
wants at this place, owing to the natives not choosing to
accept the common articles of barter, which we had with
us, beads and buttons. When we offered these in liberal
quantities, they playfully threw dust into the air in token
of their contempt of these articles, and asked in exchange
for their fowls, Indian corn and pumpkins, either handker-
chiefs, blankets or “ ingubo” i.e. a mantle or carosse.

19th—The people, this morning, who had any sickness
came to me and begged for medicine. Such were their
simplicity, faith, and eagerness for relief, that they would,
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I believe, have submitted to any remedy I had prescribed.
Arrived in the evening at another village, near the station
of Dr Adams, an American missionary.

20th—Some of the oxen having strayed, we could not
proceed with the waggon. Nevertheless I rode forward
to Berea, where I had the unexpected pleasure of meeting
Capt. Gardiner. On my way, called on Dr Adams, who
lives about 1o miles from Berea ; and was received by him
with great kindness and cordiality.

21st.—Returned to the waggon, which I met on the road.
We completed our journey this day; arriving at Berea!
in the afternoon ; having been about 12 weeks on our journey
from Grahamstown, and six from Bunting. Took pos-
session of the building erected by Capt. Gardiner for a school
room,
22nd.—Engaged today in removing to Berea some of my
stores, which had been landed by the Skerne, the vessel in
which Capt. Gardiner arrived.

23rd, Sabbath.—Commenced my mission today with the
Europeans, who assembled for Divine service at the late
Mr. Berkins house, a central spot about 3 miles from Berea.
As we walked to the place, now to be consecrated by Divine
worship, I could not but recall to my mind, the days of old
England. The number of Europeans at Natal, not much
exceeding 30, and these being widely scattered, a large
congregation could not be expected, especially as the notice
was so short. About 12 Englishmen, and 2 or 3 Hottentots
assembled in our little room. These all sat on the ground.
A chair served me for pulpit and desk and another chair
was provided for Mrs. and Miss Owen. All listened with
great attention whilst I expounded the words ““ What is a
man profitted, if he shall gain the whole world and lose his
own soul ?” T read the English service for morning prayer
throughout. The length of our walk to and from Church,
under a hot sun, may testify how good God has been to
myself ; my wife and sister, in preserving us in health during
our long journey. The depth of winter is here, in the day
time, like the height of summer in England.

24th to 29th.—Employed this week as on Saturday re-
moving my stores and in other secular business.

30th, Sabbath.—Service at Mr. Berkin's house as on last
Sunday, to nearly the same congregation. I was enabled
to open to them the necessity and nature of the Gospel,
from the words “ How should man be just with God."”
shewing the importance of this enquiry, and the answer to it.

1 Berea is a sweet spot—the beauty of the country—the calmness
and retirement, the pleasurable walks amidst the most lovely woodland
scenery. Letter to D. Coates.
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31st.—Four of the American Missionaries, vi;. Dr. Adar_n'_s,
Dr. Wilson, Messrs. Lindley and Venables paid me a visit
this morning. - They all appear to be men of an excellent
spirit. The three last left Graham’s Town a short time
after me, and were only one week less than me on the road.

Letters from the Cape speak of the encouraging state of
the Cape Town Association. On April 2zth the annual
subscriptions amounted to £70 and the donations to as much
more. My instructions were to be published there. Port
Natal, Aug. 3rd, 1837. F. Owen. :

August s5th—Commenced my journey yesterday into
the interior of the Zoolu country, for the purpose of visiting
the chief Dingarn, My waggon went off the day before
from Berea. I presently overtook it but being anxious to
reach Ambanarti, the settlement of Capt. Gardiner the
same evening, rode forward without a guide. Being over-
taken by the night and a thick mist, I Jost all trace of the
road and was obliged to remain without shelter of any kind,
in an open place under the canopy of heaven, exposed all
night to severe cold, heavy dew and to the fear of wild beasts.
T watched the first streaks of light in the east, and quickly
saddled my horse, which had afforded me some degree of
warmth, and pursued my journey. Meeting with Mr. Grotel,
an American Missionary, I was by him directed in the right
route to the romantic and lovely spot, which Capt. Gardiner
has fixed upon for his dwelling on a commanding hill near
the mouth of the Umtomgata.

Sabbath 6th.—Conducted English service in the hut in
the morning, native service out of doors in the afternoon.
About 120 natives were present.

7th.—It being determined not to travel by waggon, but
to procure baggage bearers at the Tugala, and to fit up a
cart to carry our things as far as that river which forms the
boundary of the inhabited part of the Zoolu country, our
journey was postponed a day or two.

15th—We were weather bound till this day. At length,
the cart having set off with presents and baggage the day
before, we started about g this morning for the Tugala,
which we reached about sunset, a distance of about 35 or
40 miles, I was twice thrown from my horse, at starting,
with great violence but Providentially sustained no injury.
The first thing we heard on our arrival at the Tugala was
that the river was unfordable from the late rains, and how
long we might have to wait was uncertain. One of my
best oxen had been devoured by a lion the night before,
near where the cart had spamned out on the banks

1 Grout,
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of the Mavuti., Whilst looking for the ox, the men fell in with
the lion amongst some reeds, and afterwards found the
mangled remains of the poor beast. We took up our quarters
in a small village on the banks of the river containing not
more than half a dozen huts. There are several small villages
on the south bank of the Tugala. These were lately peopled
by a tribe of Zoolus called the Amapiesi or Hyena people,
but who shortly before our arrival fled to the number of
400 to Port Natal, having suspected Dingarn of some design
upon them. During their flight, for some cause or other,
they put to death Mambayendi their chief. The natives
saluted us in their usual style *“ Dakubona wena "’ I see you,
to which the proper reply is “ yearbo,” =yes. We were soon
furnished with a hut, sweet milk, by order of the head man,
who seemed very civil. Having heard a great deal of the
rats which infest the Zoolu huts, I concluded I should have
no sleep, especially, as I saw them by troops, before I went
to bed, pass from the cattle fold into the different huts, but
to my great comfort, we were freer from them than I ex-
pected.

16¢h.—About 11 oclock the baggage bearers, 23 or 24 in
number, having crossed the Tugala, which had just become
fordable, with Gambuji, a confidential servant of the king
at their head, advanced toward the village with a short
quick step brandishing their sticks and singing a Zoolu war
song. The burdens being properly disposed among them
we went down to the river and stripped. The country on
the other side of the Tugala formed a striking contrast to
that which we left. A beautifully wooded and sloping country
was now exchanged for naked hills which could boast of
nothing but grass. We passed the Clomanthleen Nyama
or black shields, where we dined on sour milk. This being
the first Zoolu town I had seen I felt much interested in
walking round. In the midst of the town is a large vacant
area surrounded by a fence; on the outside of this fence,
which is circular, the huts are disposed in rows : an outer
fence encloses the whole town. A segment of the circular
town at that part of it which is opposite the principal en-
trance is cut off by a fence, and in this segment which is
called the Isikauthlo, are several huts appropriated to dis-
tinguished personages. Only the military towns or barracks,
as they may be termed have these Isikauthlos. A regiment
is stationed at each town under several Indoonas or Captains,
The huts at this town were nearly all empty, the regiment
being engaged in the war with Umselekazt. We rode for-
ward to a large village called Niniki, where we were com-
fortably accommodated in a hut where there were no rats.

"1 Spelt variously as Moselikatze, Silkaats and others.
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An ox was slaughtered for us by order of the Inkosikazi or

ale chief of this place. .
fe?ﬂk.——Rode forward to Congella passing Intontella, a
large military town on the road, where we enjoyed our
ordinary noon day repast, sour milk. Congella is the second
capital of the Zoolu nation, but in size not superior to Inton-
tella. At Congella the King spends a great part of the
year. Dingarn having assigned this place to Capt. Gardiner
for a Missionary station, we walked about on our arrival
to look for an eligible site for a mission house, !.r.rluch was
found about 2 miles from the town and commanding a view
of 6 or 7 villages not very distant. ;

18th and 19th.—Proceeded on our journey these days.
On leaving Congella, the road descends into the vale of the
Umthlatoosi, after crossing which stream it ascends some
high mountains which form a magnificent sight from Con-
gella. The King being now at Nobamba, his birth place,
we proceeded toward that town. The whole country there
about is very populous, large towns being seen in every
direction. Immediately on our arrival and before we had
time to sit down, Dingarn sent for us. We were conducted
into his presence by persons duly authorised to perform
this service. He was seated inside of his Isikauthlo on a
large chair. We stood silently before him for about a minute.
At length he saluted us in the usual style and with a good
humoured tone “ Dakubona '’ I see you. He was clothed
with a blanket not remarkable for its cleanliness and before
him were strewed the presents which had been forwarded
to him before our arrival, for his impatience to see them
was so great, that the bearers who carried them were directed
by Gambuji to go forward in advance. He began the con-
versation by asking Capt. Gardiner many questions respect-
ing the articles he had brought with him. These engrossed
for the present his whole attention. He told his women
who were seated on some mats, that I was the teacher who
had brought him the cloth which they had seen, for it had
now been removed and deposited in one of the Kings' huts.
Everything was new and strange to me, and not being called
to speak, I had leisure to indulge my own reflections on the
character of that far famed despot in whose presence I now
stood. I observed the alacrity with which all his commands
were obeyed. On one occasion being in need of something
which had been left at Unkunginglovo, he said to his servant,
“ Go, and be back before the spit is dry in my hand,” and
quick as lightning the order was obeyed ; the servant darting
forth and vanishing in an instant.

20th, Sabbath.—1 sent word to Dingarn in the morning
to ask his permission, as it was Sunday, to preach God’s
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word to his people in the large area in the center of the town,
or if he pleased to teach in the Isikauthlo. He immediately
returned answer that I was to come to the Isikauthlo. Ac-
cordingly accompanied by Capt. Gardiner and our Inter-
preter I went. He was seated as yesterday on a chair clothed
with the same dirty blanket, his women came in and sat
on the ground. He was anxious that all his women should
be seated before I began. But having first learned (%) from
Gambuji the manner in which we pray, he begged me not
to pray, but only to preach as it would not be convenient
for his women to kneel, the —design of my discourse was
to show how God had given us his word ; first by plain in-
struction to a common ancestor—by whom it was taught to
his children—by them to their children and so forth, till
at last, mankind becoming forgetful of God, he sent Prophets
one after another, whom he first instructed that they might
afterwards teach the world. Last of all he sent his own son,
whose superiority to all former Prophets I shewed, both
in regard to plainess (sic) and fulness of his instructions and
his Divine nature. I then enlarged a little on our blessed
Saviours’ life, character, doctrines, miracles and death. I
then said he was laid in a grave and on the third day God
raised him up again—that he was seen by his Apostles with
whom he did eat and drink. At the mention of the resur-
rection of Christ, Dingarn, who had been very attentive
throughout smiled—it was a smile I have no doubt of in-
credulity—thus did his incredulous mind lay hold of that
very doctrine, which in the first promulgation of the Gospel
was accounted foolishness and was the chief ground of opposi-
tion—tho’ the basis on which the truth of xtianity rested.
After mentioning the resurrection of Christ and his tarrying
40 days on earth, I proceeded to speak of his resurrection
into Heaven and of his coming to Judgement—of his com-
mission to his Apostles and their going forth and preaching
everywhere—I said that what the Prophets, Christ and his
Apostles taught, was written down in books, and that those
books were all after a time made into one book—which
book I had in my hand—that my people had received this
book and had sent me to his people to teach them the same
— that this book contained also a history of the life of Jesus
Christ, and I then stated the blessedness of those who be-
lieved and practised what was contained in the book and
the misery of those who did not believe and who did not practice
it, that they would be cast into Hell—a place of everlasting
fire. He here interrupted me and asked what Hell was.
1 was proceeding to speak of it in Scripture language, as a
place where the fire is not quenched—when he again inter-
rupted me and asked where Hell was. I said the word of
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God did not tell where Hell was, but only that there was
such a place. I then glided into the solemn account of the
Jast Judgement contained in those words  when the son of
man shall come in his glory, etc.”” After I had read a few
verses, he said he wanted to have the word more explained.
I then enlarged on every clause in this description. The
design of Christ’s second coming, the glory with which he
would come, the throne on which he would sit and all nations
coming before him. He asked what sort of a throne ? I
said a great white throne. He asked who were they that
would rise up again, whether we, pointing to his women,
shall rise again, what bodies we shall come with, whether
we shall see one another and know one another again. Some

" of these questions he repeated and I gave such answers as

the Ss furnished me with. He seemed to think it incredible
that if the dead should be raised again, not knowing the
power of God. Finally he said, why dont the dead get up
now ? that we may see them—to which I replied that
God had appointed the day, and now he commanded all
men everywhere to repent. I read also part of the 3rd chap
of 2nd Peter, concerning the last day—and am persuaded
that though he does not believe—yet he cannot venture to
deny the truth of the resurrection. Not a word was spoken
at this interview unconnected with the special design of it.
Afterwards I sent word to the head Indoona, that I wished
to have some conversation with him. He at first seemed
rather astonished at my visit and at a loss to know what I
could want with him. He was however very civil presently,
but manifested thorough indifference to religious instruction.
In the afternoon I sent word to the king to request he would
give me permission to teach the same words publickly to
his people, which I had taught him in the morning. To
this message however no answer was returned. So passed
the first Sabbath I had spent in the heart of a Zoolu town.

Awugust 21st—Dingarn sent for us early in the morning.
He was now seated outside of the Isikauthlo, the cloth which
I had brought being laid at his side. He promised that
when the_ army returned, a hut should be built at Congella,
on any site to be pointed out to the Indoona of that town
on our return home. T also begged him to expedite the hut
which he had begun to build for me at Unkunginglovo,
as I wished to return from Port Natal before the Tugala
became full. He asked me why I was in such a hurry to
teach his people. I said that life was short. He asked
how that could be as (according to me) we were all to awake
again. Before finally dismissing us he sent forth his servants
who with loud voices called all the men of the town together
In a very short time. When they were all seated to the

0
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number of 300 or 400 he told me that I might now preach
the same words to them which I had spoken yesterday, and
begged me to go forward and stand in the midst of them.
Dingarn on this occasion was not attentive and even drew
away the attention of my audience by making sport with
a blind man whom he beckoned in ridicule to come to him
and presently bade him go and look for something. The
poor fellow stumbled about, run against me, and fell over
my auditory, who I fear were little benefitted by my in-
structions. I felt grieved ; but did not feel myself sufficiently
at liberty to speak to Dingarn on the subject. He ordered
bearers to carry our baggage to the Tugala and sent Gambuji
with us to show me the hut which he had begun to build
for me. It is on the top of a hill commanding a view of the
whole town, from which it is distant about a mile and a
half. A stream of water washes the foot of the hill : but
trees, shrubs and everything conducive to comfort or beauty
seem to be far away. Capt. Gardiner had selected a hill
on the other side of the town, where there were some trees
and which would have been a more pleasant and advan-
tageous situation ; but Dingarn changed the site on the plea
that I should be too near the place where his women go to
bathe ; and he wishes me to be on an eminence, that he may
view our buildings from the Isikauthlo, and spy with his
telescope. The door of the hut is very high, so that it only
requires us to bend our backs to enter and not to crawl on
our knees and almost, in a manner, to break our backs as
in the common huts. It is sufficiently high for a tall man
to stand upright in it and 20 feet in diameter, but it is not
yet finished. We passed Unkunginglovo the same evening
without stopping and spent the night at the next military
town.

Aug. 22nd and 23rd.—Pursued our journey homew:?.rd
nearly by the same route which we came. In the evening
of the 23rd reached Congella and having looked about for
a site more elegible for a mission station (if it could be found)
than that we observed on our way as we came, the preference
seemed to be due to the first position, chiefly on account
of the want of good water at any other place.

Aug. 24th.—Before leaving this morning, the Indoona
sent a man with us to observe the precise situation for the
hut which Dingarn has promised to build when the army
returns.

25th.—Reached the Tugala which we crossed without
difficulty, the water having subsided. The same hut was
appropriated to us which we occupied before, but I had
little sleep on account of the rats,
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26th.—Pursued our journey to Ambanati; where we
arrived in the afternoon.

27th, Sabbath.—English service in the morning, native
service in the afternoon.

28th.—Arrived at Berea at g oclock in the evening, having
been 12 hours on the road ; my poor horse being completely
knocked up by his long journey, but I had the joy of once
more returning home to my family and finding all well.
The distance from Port Natal to Unkunginglovo is estimated
at about 150 miles.

Sept” 3rd, Sabbath.—Had made arrangements to preach
today to the Europeans ; but the wreck of the Eliza rendered
it impossible to hold the service as all the people were en-
gaged. This vessel had arrived from Algoa Bay during
my absence with stores and on Friday night was endeavour-
ing to sail out of the harbour at high water, but the wind
not being sufficiently strong to carry her over the bar, she
was at the going down of the tide left on a sand bank and
much injured. Private service at home attended by a few
natives.

Xoth, Sabbath.—Having given notice at Mr. Cane’s store,
that there would be a service today at Berea at noon and
requested the attendance of both white people and black,
as early as g oclock a considerable number of natives attended,
enough to fill the large room which I occupied. Another
body of natives assembled at 1r and at the specified time
about } dozen white people arrived, to whom I read the
English service and expounded. In the afternoon the natives
assembled again. I was much pleased at the great readi-
ness of the natives to be taught the word of God. I can
scarcely doubt that at Berea, if due notice were given, there
would be every sabbath day a large and quiet audience of
natives from all parts.

I4th—Having been making preparations during the last
fortnight for a waggon journey to the capital of the Zoolu
nation where I had determined to fix my residence as well
as employing myself by means of my Interpreter and a
native servant in the study of the language, we commenced
loading our vehicles this afternoon. Many of my own oxen
having died, I was obliged to hire a span for one waggon,
as well as to hire a third waggon with a span of oxen to carry
sundry building materials. My Interpreter and his family
occupied with their stores nearly the whole of one waggon.
We were very heavily loaded and calculated upon a tedious
and difficult journey.

I5th—Set off about noon. The road at the beginnin
of our journey was very good; the country beautifullg
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wooded. We experienced no other difficulty than the cross-
ing of the Umgani, where our waggon was imbedded in the
sand.

16th.—The weather prevented us from starting till noon,
but tho’ the road was, good we made little progress
owing to our heavy loads and the soreness of our oxens’
feet. Spanned out on the banks of the Umshlusi.

17th, Sabbath—English service in the tent in the mom-
ing and native service in the afternoon.

18th.—Arrived at the Umtongata, where we had deter-
mined that our waggon should remain a day or two, whilst
we visited our friends Capt. and Mrs. Gardiner at Ambanati.
Capt. Gardiner had set off this very morning to the Zoolu
country, Dingarn having sent for him on occasion of the
return of his army from Umselekaz country, where they
had gone for the sake of plunder. Umzelekaz father was
conquered by one of the Zoolu kings and afterwards break-
ing off the yoke became an independent and powerful chief.
His country lies on the N.W. of the Zooloos. Umselekaz
had been completely vanquished, and he himself had fled
for his life.

21st.—After a short visit which had been pleasantly
lengthened one day by rain, we returned to our waggons
and proceeded on our journey. The country beyond the
Umtongata soon becomes bare of trees, and is destitute
of inhabitants, as well as the other side as far as the ¥mgani,
a river about 3 miles from Berea.

22nd.—Arrived at the Mavuti river where my ox was
devoured by the lion.

23rd —Proceeded onward to the Tugala which we reached
only with great exertion; having met with many delays
and inconveniences in crossing the drifts of several small
streams. The inhabitants of the villages freely brought
us milk without asking for payment, having been directed
by the king to shew this hospitality to strangers. Nothing
can equal the loveliness of the country on this side the Tugala.
The serenity, calmness and mildness of the evening con-
spired with the beauty of the scenery, the verdant hills and
Juxuriant foliage to render it a most charming spot. The
distance from Port Natal is estimated at about 60 or 70 miles.

24th, Sabbath.—Native service in the morning attended
by most of the inhabitants of the neighbouring villages.
English service in the evening in the tent.

25th—This morning my intelligent and entertaining
servant Mungo took his leave, being afraid to cross the
Tugala, having formerly fled for his life. In enumerating
his good offices, he told me that he had been my husband
in one respect, my wife in another and my son in another.
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Having crossed the river without much difficulty we arrived
in the afternoon at Ginani (I am with you), a settlement
of the American Missionaries in the Clomanthleen district.
We were received with great kindness by Mr. and Mrs.
Champion and Dr. Wilson, the Missionaries. This station
has been occupied just a twelve month and has tried
the faith and patience of the excellent Missionaries who
reside there. They live in separate buildings of unhewn stone,
which have been hastily thrown up and they are now build-
ing a large house of unburned brick, which is to be sheltered
from rain by a verandah. The outward situation presents
nothing attractive; but the deep tone of piety, the un-
feigned humility and indefatagibility of the friends whom
I saw, were in the highest sense pleasing and instructive.
Great success has not yet attended their efforts, tho' a good
foundation has been laid by them, in a wise and even conduct,
calculated to secure the confidence of a heathen monarch
and incline him to view all missionaries with favour. I was
astonished to find that Mr. Champion in the course of a year
and half from his first arrival in the country, has made him-
self a competent master of the language, and is able both
to preach and to pray in it. Their station which is near
Kuloola, which Capt. Gardiner selected for the Church Miss.
Soc. when he was last in Africa, was occupied simply because
Dingarn placed them there ; nor did they know at that time
that it was preoccupied ground. The evening was spent
in social prayer.

26th.—Mr. Champion shewed me his school. It is a rough
temporary building, where he preaches on the Sabbath.
It is generally too small for his congregations. A few Sun-
days ago a large concourse of people assembled from dis-
tant places for the express purpose of praying for rain, it
being seed time. There is a sabbath school for children,
but their parents cannot be prevailed upon to send them
oftener than once a week, as they pretend to have constant
need of their services at home. The Indoona of the neigh-
bouring town has been very unfavourable to the missionaries
and remiss in sending the children to school, so that the
king at last said, upon the representation of Mr. Champion,
that he was sick of his Indoonas and he would send some
children himself. Accordingly he sent about 8 or g girls
from Umkunginglovu. These I saw instructed by Mr.
Champion. They have made great progress for the short
time they have learned. Mr. Venables another missionary
arrived with his family in the afternoon. He and Dr. Wilson
have permission by Dingarn to settle on the Umshlatoosi
beyond Congella in a populous part of the country. Mr.
Champion and Mr. Grote are stationed at Ginani; and Mr
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Lindley and Dr. Adams in the neighbourhood of Port Natal.
At Dr. Adams’ station a printing press has been lately brought
into operation.

27th—Proceeded on our journey ; passed Intontella and
presently were immersed in a deep bog from which our waggon
could not be extricated without unloading. Shortly after,
in crossing a narrow drift, the pole of the waggon was broken
and we were compelled to remain all night where we were.
Not one of our party had any sleep by reason of musquitoes.

28th.—In the evening arrived near the mouth of the Um-
lalasi, having travelled thro’ an exceedingly dreary country.

29th.—Crossed the river with great difficulty, and only
by yoking in 24 oxen. An alligator, considered one of the
most dangerous animals, was seen and shot at in the river
near the ford.

30th.—The face of the country changes. It reminds me
now in some places of the Peak of Derbyshire. The heat
excessive. The thermometer on my writing desk, under
the shade of the waggon, which forms here the only pro-
tection from the sun, is at blood heat.

Oct. 1st, Sabbath—Native service attended by 12 or 15
men ; we had outspanned last night near a small village.
To render my discourse more familiar I sat down and taught
them on the ground. They were very attentive, continually
asking questions, not of me but of one another. One man
who was more intelligent than the rest, explained to the
others whatever interested himself. One old man however
once desired the assembly to be quiet, and to listen to me.
It is singular that I was rebuked by my unlettered audience
for the incoherence of my discourse, and I learned an im-
portant lesson, viz. the necessity of confining myself to one
point, if I wish to be understood ; for one man said that I
talked first about one thing and then another, that they
could not understand.

7th.—Proceeded slowly on our journey till we arrived
this evening in sight of Unkunginglovo, at a military town
called Ukayakunina. The Inkosikaz or head woman of
this place is a.mother in law of Dingarn. She and the princi-
pal Indoona immediately sent us milk on our arrival with
apologies for not sending more.

8th, Sabbath.—Sent round to the Indoona, that I intended
to teach Gods’ word at the waggon. Much to my surprise
and gratification, I heard that the Indoona was collecting
all the people together. Presently a dense mass of natives
1 observed to advance slowly and orderly down the
slope from the town. These separated into two divisions,
the men came foremost, the women remained behind.
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The Indoona sent word to know whether he and the
Inkosikaz were to attend. Of course I said Yes. I was
then asked whether the sick, the wounded and the
Jame were to attend. I replied No, but I would see them
at their homes if they wished. The reply to this was that
many had come home wounded from the war. My Inter-
preter and I sat down on chairs in the open space between
the men and the women : I bade them all stand up and
repeated the beginning of the 136th Ps. They then sat
down and I gave them a short account of the creation of
man, the covenant of life, the formation of woman and the
institution of marriage. I asked whether they understood
and told them, if not they might ask questions, but the
Indoona said that I was to go on, and that they would not
speak. I then proceeded to give an account of the temp-
tation of the serpent, the fall of man and the promise of
a deliverer. I then told them that I had finished and in-
vited them again to ask questions. The Indoona now
moved his seat to be near my Interpreter and said they
could not understand, how the man could be made from
the dust. I said that God could as easily form dust into
a human body as they could form iron into an assegai. 1
asked them if they understood how the woman was formed.
This, they said, quite beat them. I then explained to them
again how death had entered into the world, and the
promise of the seed of the women, who would bring us all
to life again. I observed that this seed had come and that
it was Jesus Christ, who would come again at the last day
and raise us from our graves, and that all who believed in
him would be happy for ever. This led to many interesting
questions. On mentioning the name of our blessed Lord,
the Indoona repeated it several times, wishing to get the
right sound, asking me if this was God, I said he was the
Son of God. They wanted me to talk more to them of the
resurrection rather than ask questions. I therefore illus-
trated it by a grain of corn dying and afterwards springing
up according to T Cor XV. One man asked if we should be
happy before the resurrection or not till after we had risen
again. I said that the soul of one who loved Christ went
immediately into happiness, and that at the last day it
would be united to the body. The Indoona asked me if
Jesus Christ had sent me. I said I had felt him in my heart
and that I knew my coming to teach them was pleasing tohim.
I further said that Jesus Christ had not spoken to my out-
ward ear, but he had spoken to my heart, He then said he
supposed that it would please Jesus Christ if they came to
hear God’s words. I said, most assuredly, but still more
if they believed and practised them. After the conversation
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was over I told them all to stand up and gave them a bene-
diction. They then dispersed as quietly and orderly as
they had assembled.

Oct. 9.—The oxen having strayed, we could not proceed
on our journey. I had sent word on Saturday afternoon
to Dingarn that I was coming and would be with him today.
He returned answer by the messengers, that he was very
glad and also sent a present of a fat cow for slaughter.

10th.—Arrived at Umkunginglovo about noon. Dingarn
sent word by his chief servant that we were to come, waggons
and all, to the Isikauthlo. As we drew near, his bust ap-
peared behind the fence where he was standing. Having
given him a distant salute he came forward, having a very
gay red band on his forehead and his body covered with
green baize. He seemed mightly pleased and with unusual
condescension put forth his arm to shake hands. He
then peeped into my waggon and spying Mrs. and Miss
Owen begged them to come out. Next he called for my
female servant, then for my Interpreters’ wife and children,
and surveyed them all with minute attention and silent
pleasure. Last of all he asked what things I had brought
him, and on producing some more red cloth and a red cloak
(the latter of which only he examined) he bid the waggons
return and said that I could now go and look at the hut and
come again when he sent for me. I asked him where all
his people were, since the town seemed nearly empty. He
said they were all dispersed to their homes in the outplaces
or villages.

Oct. 11th—Early in the morning Dingarn sent for me.
He was sitting on the outside of the Isikauthlo, three men
sitting before him on the ground. These he told me were
his 3 head Indoonas, Umthlella, Tambooza and Maniti,
who had commanded the army which had gone out against
Umselekaz. He wished to inspire me with respect for his
great captains, whom he had probably called for on purpose
to introduce me to them. Tambooza told me to sit down,
but on telling him I had no where to sit, Dingarn sent for
my chair. As the conversation began about Umselekaz,
I asked Dingarn whether many of his own people had been
killed in the war. He said not more than 10, but this I
could not believe, as the numbers of huts, mats, etc. which
had been burned, the remains of which I noticed yesterday,
indicated many more. I then said that my country had
not been to war for more than 20 years, and that we never
went to war except for self-defence, Jesus Christ having
told all men to love one another. He asked me whether
the countries on this side the sea were the greatest, or those
on my side. I said those on my side were by far the greatest,
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tho’ he was the greatest of the African chiefs whom I had
seen. The Indoonas said I did not yet know the extent
of their country, but Dingarn corrected them and then
began to show and finally make them believe that this part
of the world is an Island. I then told him that the greatness
of a kingdom did not consist in the extent of territory, or
the number of its inhabitants, but in righteousnous and that
the strongest nation was that which worshipped and feared
God. I said there was a King who ruled over all other
kings and that he favoured those kings who obeyed him,
but forsook those who forgot him. He asked me if this
king was God. I then repeated to him the history of Ne-
buchadnezzar, who had conquered the whole world; but
being very proud and looking at his chief city exclaimed,
“Is not this great Babylon, which I have built for myself ?"
God was offended, that he took away his intellect and drove
him into the fields where he ate grass like oxen. At this
Dingarn laughed and asked me how he could live on grass,
I proceeded to say that, after seven years, God gave him
intellect again, after which he honoured God and continued
to be still a great king; but his son being very wicked and
not honouring God, his kingdom was taken from him. He
asked jokingly, if this was the son of the king who ate grass.
Dingarn then asked me how old I was and wanted me to
tell him his age. When I said I did not know, he asked me
if it was not written in God’s book. I said that God’s book did
not tell us such things, but only those which are necessary for
our happiness. He then called for an old print he had of the
Kings of England from the conquest and told me to read
over their names, which I did and pointed to Elizabeth as the
reign in which our country began to worship God truly, since
which time it had been greater than ever it was before.
He asked me if this was an Inkosikaz (Queen). He wanted
to know who was the first king, and what relations King
George and King William were and which was their father.
He then asked me if God was among these kings. I said
God was not a man and he was not the king of England in
particular, but the king of the whole earth. He said he
.su{)posed he was from the beginning. The Indoonas asked me
if I had seen God, but the king himself answered the question
apd told them I had not, but that he was from the be-
ginning. T asked Dingarn if he would not set an example
to his people and come to the station on Sundays to hear
God’s word, telling him that if he and his people kept the
word of God they would live for ever in happiness. He
asked if he should be able to learn and whether I could teach
him to read. I said he might learn Gods’ word by hearing
of it, but that young people were generally the quickest in
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learning to read tho’ I would endeavour to teach all whom
he sent. He asked if his Indoonas would be able to leamn,
but I pointed to some young people and to a lad that was
holding an umbrella over him and said boys of that age
usually learned quickest. He then gave orders for all the
boys that could be found in the town to come forward :
about a dozen appeared : the rest he said were all gone to a
distance to get wood which I believed. He said that I
might begin to teach them today. What followed I shall
relate very minutely, as different opinions may possibly
be formed of the propriety of my conduct. The king asked
me to give him some gunpowder. I said I never gave gun-
powder away and that I had none to spare, having only a
little to shoot birds. He asked me if I could not give him
a little as he wanted to shoot elephants. Being convinced
that this was his real object and in order to save myself
from the unpleasant office of giving him an article of this
nature, I told him it was sold at Port Natal and he could
get it there if he pleased. But I hereby got myself into
another dilemma, for he now wanted me to purchase some
and give it to him ; and he said he would give me an elep-
hants’ tooth to purchase it with. This I declined, saying,
I was not a trader but a teacher and that he had better
speak to Mr. King¥*, the driver of my waggon, who was
returning to Port Natal and give him the tooth instead of
me, and that he would get him gunpowder. He however
renewed his request so earnestly that on reflection I thought
proper to grant it him, being quite satisfied in my own
mind that the object for which he wanted the powder was
an innocent one. What his reasons were for not making
the bargain in his own name he did not state. Either he
did not wish to have any dealings with the Port Natal people,
with whom he is not on very good terms, or he was afraid
of a refusal, or it is against his dignity to offer anything
for the sake of an equivalent, tho’ he will readily give an
equivalent for anything offered him. Most probably he
was afraid the Port Natal people would not supply him with
powder tho' they have with guns. I may also observe
that I have the strongest reason for believing that tho’ the
letter goes in my name the destination of the gunpowder
will be known by the Natal people. He seemed well pleased
that I granted him his request and immediately told the
children that they were to go with me to be taught to read :
but as he wished me to write the letter in his presence, I
said that as I must return again with pen and ink, they had

* This was the famous Dick King who did the ride from Port Natal
to Grahamstown in 1842, in order to obtain assistance for the British
troops who were besieged by the Boers in the old fort at Durban.
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better wait. On my return Dingarn was at his breakfast.
I waited therefore in an adjoining hut a full hour, till he was
ready to receive me. He was now in his hut reclining on
a mat near the door, with a small head stool. I wrote a
note to Mr. Maynard’s agent at Port Natal to this effect,
Sir, I beg to send you an elephant’s tooth and shall be obliged
by you sending me in return as much gunpowder as it is
worth by bearer. I remain, etc.”

Dingarn having had the letter explained to him requested
me to add that the tooth had been given me by the chief.
I therefore wrote in a P.S. * The tooth has been given me
by Dingarn,” tho’ I must confess with some reluctance, on
account of the disguise which I was apparently assuming.
Yet, as the thing itself was true, and I was not accountable
for any lawful use I might choose to make of the gunpowder,
and it appearing to me that I might as innocently give it to
Dingarn to shoot elephants as use it myself, being convinced
that this was the only object he had, and that I was not
obliged to say what use I intended or did not intend to make
of my purchase, fully believing also that Mr. M’s agent
would not have the slightest objection to Dingarn having
the powder and knowing also that my driver, who was to
take the tooth to Port Natal in his waggon, would, without
doubt, hear, tho’ not from me and make mention of the
nature of the whole transaction (another European besides
my Interpreter was in the hut at this time. But subse-
quently Dingarn changed his mind and sent the tooth by
his own servant, who would arrive at Natal before King).
I could not feel that I was, God forbid, practising any de-
ception, but merely assisting Dingarn to procure an article
w_hxch he innocently wanted, but which he could not get
himself, thro’ his deep rooted objection to apply for any.
This I did certainly to please him, but without violating
(as I trusted) any principle, tho’ a full statement of all my
feelings and views seems necessary to clear me from the
suspicion which a partial statement might occasion, that
I fk_:parted in this instance from that path of Christian sim-
plicity, which it has always been my desire and aim to walk
. And if, after all, I erred from the path of plain dealing,
at the thought of which my soul shudders, I throw myself
on the compassion of that Being who knew the integrity of
my heart, and on his people who can make all allowance
for the circumstances in which I was placed and the want
of all time for consideration.

Dingarn asked me how many moons it would be before I
built my school, and whether I intended to build it accordin
to the fashion on the other side of the sea. I told him 1
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wanted men to cut wood, as I could not spare my Inter-
preter to go a long distance, as he must, to procure poles, beams,
sticks, etc. He promised me men to cut as many sticks
as I wanted for the school and also to build my Interpreter
a hut; for he now lives in his waggon. The natives not
knowing the quality of the poles needed for the school,
I have engaged an European tocut me them at a moderate rate
and he promised me men to help him. I told Dingarn that
great people in my country were not ashamed to go a long
distance to hear God’s word: and I hoped that he would
not object to come to the station on Sundays with his chiefs
and people for the same purpose. He said he must consult
with his Indoonas on this subject as it was the custom of
his country not to do anything important without their
knowledge. He then called the children together again
and I took them with me to the station, having first been
obliged to beg the King’s head servant, who brought them,
to tell them not to be afraid. I conducted them about a
quarter of a mile beyond our hut, in order to be under the
shade of a small tree, and to inspire them with confidence,
I began adopting the native mode of talking, to tell them
by means of my Interpreter that they were my children and
that I was their father. I then asked whether they would
promise to take pains if I taught them, but with char-
acteristic freedom and ingenuousness, they said they must
know first what it was I was going to teach them. I then
produced a card containing letters, etc., at the top of which
on the first line were the 5 vowels which I made them repeat
after me. This they did with great interest as their coun-
tenances shewed. Presently I surrended my office to my
Interpreter, but continued to stand by. In the course of
an hour they could pretty well bear to be dodged and shewed
in their tractability, as well as their quickness, an example
that would shame many English scholars. The strict dis-
cipline in which the natives are kept and the obedience
they are accustomed to pay to the commands of their
superiors render them very docile and this spirit of obedience
is manifested in the children, for it would be difficult to
find 12 English boys of equal vivacity with these and at
the same time so obedient to every word spoken. T occasion-
ally interrupted the reading instruction with a plain account
of the creation, fall and redemption of man and with question-
ing them on it; but all was so perfectly new to them, that I
could only discover one idea that they retained, viz. that
man was made out of the dust. Before they separated I
took down their names, some of which were in sense, as well
as sound, sufficiently ludicrous. I then told them that I
wanted now to teach them how to pray to God, so telling
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kneel down and to be as silent as possible, not look-
;::;ma]t:mt them, playing or talking, I bade them repeat
after my Interpreter the Lords’ prayer, which they did
with the greatest quietness and gravity. To conclude I
bade them wish me good morning in their own way, upon
which they all exclaimed “ Shlala guthle imjundis, Rest
quietly, teacher. I told them to come again in the morning,
the biggest of them, a sharp boy about 15 years old, told
the rest who were much younger that they must learn as
their King had ordered them. I had scarcely had time to
eat a meal to day when just after finishing my dinner, Din-
again sent for me. I was at loss to conceive what he

now wanted. However I posted with great willingness
for the third time under the burning heat of the sun to Un-
kunginglovo, when I was surprised to find he had sent for
me for no other purpose than to afford me what he no doubt
thought would be amusements. All his fen_lale_ servants,
who live at the back of the Isikauth_lo, amounting in number
to a least 500 and ormamented with beads, had been on
occasion of my arrival summonded forth to sing. But as
I took no pleasure in this scene, so can I find no heart for
the description of it. My stay was irksome and yet I could
net without the danger of giving offence offer to leave before
the pantomime was over ; and heartlly did I rejoice when
I beheld the sun sink below the horizon. But the grand
display was reserved for the last, when the King’s women,
go or 100 in number, advanced richly attired with beads
and brass rings, which covered the greater part of their
body. These ladies being (as I suppose) too unwieldy, for
the stoutness of some of them would exceed all credibility,
did not walk as they sang like the younger women, but sat
on the ground. [Each tune appeared to exceed the former
in animation till at length they seemed to be almost worked
up into a phrenzy. Their noise could be heard not only at
the station, but no doubt many miles beyond ; the action
of their arms and the violence of their gestures bore a due
proportion to the exercise of their lungs, and so tired were
some of them, that they cast a pitiful loo';E wf}cnever the
King told them to commence a new song. Tho there was
great regularity in their singing, the monotony was intoler-
able. Dingarn asked me if it was not pretty, but I waived
the question by saying I did not understand the words.
One poor woman I observed sitting near me clothed with
an ordinary petticoat, and without any finery about her.
When the Kings’ woman rose up they all surrounded her,
tossing their arms about her for some time, but the poor
woman continued to sit mute and still, as if she saw 'fmd
heard nothing; not a muscle of her countenance moving.
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Afterwards the King asked her if they had such doings in
her country and then told me that she had been brought
away from Umselekaz country and she was now living at
Umthella’s. I recommended the King to behave kindly
to her, tho’ she had come from his enemy’s country. Din-
garn then said he would shew me some of Umselekaz oxen
and told me that these were only a few and that the whole
fold was full of them when the army first returned. I said
I hoped he would now be satisfied and not retaliate on his
enemy any more. To turn if possible the current of his
thoughts and the conversation, I asked him whose that
grave was in the front of the town, covered with branches
of trees. He said it was the grave of an “ Inkosi inkula,”
a great king who lived many years ago. I asked him where
the Zoolu nation originally came from. He said they had
always lived here. I asked him what was the name of the
first king. He said Uzulu and that he had begun to conquer
the tribes hereabout and that the grave I saw was that of
his son. I asked if Uzulu’s son was a great chief, and upon
his saying yes I reminded him that the great must die as
well as the small. Upon this he immediately told me that
the sun was down and that I might go.

Oct. 12.—Dingarn sent the children early this morning ;
also saying that when the men returned, there would be
many more children, but these were all there was at present.
Three were added to the number of yesterday, and 15 are
quite enough to begin with., They are all boys. He sent
also an Induna and another man, who had orders to shew
the person who was going to cut me poles, where wood was
to be found, and to direct some particular villages to furnish
men to cut sticks. Dingarn has given directions to supply
me with milk and has sent me beer both yesterday and
today. His great inkosikaz, or chief woman, sent her respects
to me this morning. Dingarn begged of me some nails to
repair his cart. Returning from a walk at noon I found
my Interpreter busily engaged with the children, who had
come again of their own accord, neither I nor Dingarn having
ordered them. My Interpreter was necessarily absent
during the morning instruction. The children met him on
their return, and on his asking them what they had learned
they replied, we don’'t know what we have learned this
morning, for the Umfundis (teacher) sent us away so soon.

I was in fact afraid of tiring them. They now seem per-
fectly to know the vowels and the next step was as I con-
ceived best, not to learn letters, but short syllables as ba,
da, fa, etc. It was amusing to hear them, on my question-
ing, point out the difference between the forms of the letters.
Their fertile imaginations instantly pointed out something
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in nature or art resembling any given letter, which an English
child could never have discovered ; certainly at least not
I myself if I had considered for a whole year, but the re-
semblance once shewn by them was ludicrously accurate.
Three of the King’s servants were sent by him this morning.
Two attended in the afternoon. The reason that no girls
come is that there are none in the town. Only a few children
live at the capital town and those only boys, who reside
with their fathers to help them to get wood, etc. Most of
the men being now away at their own homes at the villages,
there are but few boys here, but at harvest time when
the men return, as Dingarn says, there will be more.

Oct. 13.—Dingarn sent the boys early this morning, but
the man who brought them had directions to bring me and
the children to Unkunginglovo, as the King wished to sce
how I taught them. On arriving at the town, hO}vever,
I found Dingarn too busily engaged even to take the slightest
notice of me. An Indoona had been reporting the case of
a man who had been secreting some cattle which did not
belong to him; but it appearing that the thief was about
to leave the Indoonas’ village and that the Indoona had not
previously reported the theft, which it seems he had known
of, Dingarn was laying all the blame on him and saying
that he was worse than the man who had stolen the cattle.
The woman who owned the cattle was present, Umthlella
sat at the King's feet, several of the King’s servants sitting
with their backs to the fence seemed to be assenting to every
thing the King said, crying repeatedly * Yearbo baba,
Yearbo baba,”” Yes father, yes father. Dingarn frequently
rose from his chair and was apparently in a state of great
excitement tho' not in a passion. I never saw him animated
before. He is generally rather sparing of his words, but
now he paced about snapping his fingers, clapping his hands,
throwing about his arms, pouting forth his chin and throwing
(?) in his breast, speaking at the most rapid rate, and show-
ing all the agility and eloquence of a young orator. He
accused the Indoona of telling lies, shouting out *““ amanga,”
““amanga,” it's a lie, it’s a lie, and bid his servants go and
call the people together that they might hear these lies.
They, running speedily thro’ the area and shouting as they
went, assembled in a few minutes the men now at the town.
In the meanwhile there was a dead pause, yet I dared not
take the advantage of it in speaking a word to Dingarn.
The male population being gathered together, the king
told them he had called them to hear the lies the Indcona
had to tell, yet to my surprise he had so much self recollection
during this animated dispute as at this moment to desire
me and the children to retire and to say that he would come .
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to us. We accordingly retired to the place appointed where
we commenced teaching the children. There were now 19
of them. After repeating their syllables, I gave them an
account of the formation of the first man and woman, the
covenant of life, the breach of the covenant and the sentence
of death which followed, in the most simple terms I could
devise. Of their own accord they repeated after my Inter-
preter every word he said, but on asking them if they thought
they could recollect it they said, ‘it beat them * but added
(pointing to the card), this beats us too at first, meaning
that they did not despair of learning both in time. Resum-
ing the syllables, the discussion being over, Umthella and
others passed by the boys as I was teaching. The former
did not deign to notice us: others I imagine viewed the
instruction with no less indifference and contempt, and one
man said the children must be very stupid, or they would
in two days have learned the whole card! Before Dingarn
would come to us he saw fit to wash himself : three boys
help him to do this. But fearing that his breakfast hour
was arriving, and in that case I must remain another hour
or more, it being near mid day and having as yet ate nothing,
I sent to him to ask whether I had not better go home and
return : to which he replied, No, as he was coming : but soon
after his breakfast bell rung (for he has a bell) and I ventured
to send him another message, chiefly because I did not wish
to get him into the habit of detaining me and making me
lose my time in this way. He now recommended me to go
and eat my breakfast, as he was eating his, and to come
again in the afternoon. In the afternoon there was a dread-
ful storm of thunder, lightning, hail and rain, such as I
seldom witnessed. In a few minutes my hut was deluged
with water, the rain coming copiously thro’ the roof. I
however set out when it was fair, but found the clough
between my hill and the town so full of water, that is was
impassable.

Oct. 14—Dingamn sent for me early to teach the children
and shew him foo. 1 first of all referred to the thunderstorm,
and hz asked what could be done to prevent it thundering
I said that God caused the thunder to show forth his power.
On my way I had met with a servant of Dingarn, who was
driving an ox to the station, being a present from the king.
He asked when I should kill it and laughed heartily when
I told him I had not yet finished the corn which he gave me
on Saturday. I told him my family was not as large as his
He then asked to see the card, when I taught him first the
vowels and then part of a column of syllables. He seemed
highly amused and called his servants together to see him
learn. When I told him he should endeavour to distinguish
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the letters, he said his eyes must first become more accustomed
to them. He presently retired to wa_sh,lwhcn & taugh_t Fhe
children many persons, chiefly the king's servants, sitting
by. Afterwards I repeated to them again the same account
1 gave them yesterday of the creation and fall of man.
Dingarn returned in the midst of it and listening, sometimes
smiling. He again said his lessor} over and over, aqd mgieed
proved an apter scholar than for his age I could have imagined
him to be. At length he told me to go home and eat, and
said that I might leave the card, showing me how high the
sun must be when I came again to teach him in his own
house. At the specified elevation of the sun he sent for
me again. He bid me enter his house{ when he repeated
his lesson. I now taught him the remainder of the column
till he became master of it. I said he could now go on to
the next, but he was not contented with his own proficiency,
and said he must polish up again what he had already
learned. He told me he should learn. I said I would teach
him, but as tomorrow was Sunday, I should not teach him
the card, but asked whether I should teach bls people or
himself the word of God. He did not seem willing to send
the people to me, nor did he ask me to come and teach him-
self : and I thought it better not to press the subject at present.
He requested me to leave the card, and said he should read
it tomorrow till sundown and that on the day after tomorrow
I should teach him the next column. His quickness and
patience much surprised me. I was pained to hear on my
return home that the Indoona whose trial I heard yesterday
was sentenced to death and was killed immediately after the
trial, before I had time to return home. He was taken
from the place where I saw him, driven to an eminence near
the town, and there first stunned and then killed by large
sticks and stones! I could not suppose that the poor fellow
was pleading for his life and that he was so near his end.
Oct. 15th, Sabbath. 1 felt much discouragement to-day
on account of Dingarn not listening to my request yesterday
that he should send his people to hear the words of God,
neither did the children attend as usual. English service
in the hut. _ .
16th. A young man, a servant of Dingarn came this
morning to learn to read at the command of his master.
Dingarn sent for me later than usual. His favourite servant
was holding the card in his hand which Dingarn on my
arrival took from him and began to read. He proceeded
to the second column, which he learned immediately ; then
to the third and so forth. He did not however manifest the
same patience as on Saturday and was eager to proceed
to something new ; being also impatient of correction. As
D
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I was obliged to gratify his humour, I promised him a new
card which is now preparing consisting of easy words formed
from the syllables which he has been learning. He is also
anxious to get a “ book " and asked me how many more
cards there will be. The children did not come yesterday
as many of them have left the town to get wood, or to accom-
pany their fathers to the out places and the King himself
was teaching his own servant boys, who form a part of my
little school. Dingarn however sent as many as could be
found this morning.

17th. The children attended as early as 1 p. 5. At 6,
Dingarn sent for me. I took him the new card, which by my
assistance, he read, and detained, to become more familiar
in it. He read over the former card without a mistake.
He is particularly anxious to learn to write and asked me
whether it would be possible for him to learn. The children
attended again at noon. After saying the syllables, I ques-
tioned them in the account I had twice or thrice given them
of the creation and fall of man and to my great surprise
and pleasure, I found that they had recollected the sub-
stance of it all. One little boy in particular gave me satis-
factory answers to the questions. They also told me the
name of the Son of God. I was also much pleased with
the sobriety and quiet with which they repeated the Lord's
prayer after my Interpreter. Dingarn today sent me a
present of 7 cows and 3 calves. We commenced today
planting potatoes.

18th. The children attended twice. Dr. Wilson, Ameri-
can Missionary being on a visit to the king spent part of the
day with us. Dingarn did not send for me.

1g9th. The children attended at 6 o'clock. I told them
that I had come from the other side of the sea to tell them
about Jesus, and to teach them to love him. One boy ex-
claimed, “ Siyamtanda " (we do love him) but I said, you
cannot love him yet, because you do not know him, but I
hope that when you do know him, then you will love him
and I asked whether they desired to know him and to love
him. Several of them said that they did desire. I then
gave a very brief account of the life, character, death and
resurrection of Jesus ; and afterwards taught them to repeat
the Lord's prayer as usual. In the afternoon they attended
again with an increase of numbers.

zoth. The children attended at 6 as usual. They could
tell me that Jesus Christ was the Son of God and that he
is in heaven, but they required to be told again that he
was once on earth, I said he came down from heaven to
teach people the will of God, and that what he said was
written in a book. I told then that I had this book and
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that when they were able to read, they could learn this
book, which would shew them the way to happiness. They
were attentive and seemed to understand. In the afternoon
they came again, when I began to teach them a hymn from
a selection I brought with me from one of the Missionary
stations in Caffre-land (Here follows the hymn, in English,
but it is of no historical value.)

Oct. 21st. Dingarn sent for me at 6 o'clock. I found
him very busy in state affairs. His Indoonas were sitting
at his feet and a number of men were being arranged in
classes to be sent to reside at different villages. As soon
as this business was over he beckoned to me to come near
to him and eagerly asked for the card. This he read over
till he became tolerably acquanted with it ; but he scemed to
think that he had almost acquired the art of reading already,
as he asked whether there would be anything more to learn
after this, he also expressed his anxiety to learn to write.
At this interview I presented him with a chain of gilt beads,
with which he was much pleased and put it round his neck.
I had a serious point to plead with him at this time, which
led me, independent of his general kindness, to a_fford him
by this present some token of good will, I told him that I
had something particular to say to him, that I had come to
his country purposely to teach God’s words, but that last
Sabbath I had not a single person to hear me ; that to-
morrow was Sunday and I wished to know to whom I was
to teach God's words, and that I did not want only children
but men. His reply was the same as he gave last Saturday,
“ There are no men.” I knew there were but few, yet quite
sufficient for me to teach. I therefore desired that I might
teach, if not all, yet a few. He said he did not know whether
the people would be willing to come and that I must ask
Umthlela, his principal Indoona. Having reason to fear
rather an unfavourable reception from him, I petitioned
the king that the people of a few villages near my hut be
allowed to attend the preaching. He replied that they
were digging. I said that I had come into his country to
teach him God’s will, and that will was that we should not
work on the 7th day but only on 6 days of the week. He
then referred me once more to Umblella and said I must
speak to him myself when he was alone, and that I must
also ask another Indoona, whose name I forget. Tambooza
was not at home or he must have been consulted also. I
asked the king if he had any objection to the people coming.
He said ke was willing, but if he were to give orders without
the concurrence of his Indoonas they would afterwards
be teazing and worretting him about it. After this I wit-
nessed a novel and singular scene. An old man with a
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withered arm and having his head ornamented with a number
of small bladders came forward. Three of the king’s ser-
vants sitting down began with great animation to snap their
fingers at him, crying after every snap, ““ Find it out,” he
himself repeating some words after them. I asked Dingamn
who he was. He replied ** Its like writing, he can tell things,”
and it appeared that Dingarn had called him on purpose
to put his professed skill in the knowledge of secrets to the
proof. Dingarn who has a great deal of sense in him began
once to ridicule the fellow for not telling him his secret.
After the snap, the challenge and the vain guess had pro-
ceeded with great animation for more than half an hour I
begged leave to go not knowing how long it might be con-
tinued. Dingarn is not the sort of man to be imposed on
by these wretches, and I should not wonder if the old man
was not to fall under his displeasure and be put to death.
On arriving at the station I saw by a telescope that they
were still at him. I had a very interesting conversation
this morning with the young man who brings my milk.
He had begun to converse with my Interpreter asking him
what we had come to teach. He had given some very
judicious answers, when I happened to come near and pursued
the conversation. I told lim that he was happy now (for
indeed all the Zooloos seem happy) but if he learned God’s
word he would only be happier still now, but he would be
happy for ever, even after his body was dead. He asked
me what sort of happiness. 1 told him he would see God
and would be free from all manner of trouble and that there
would be no more death. He was very anxious to listen
and repeated after my Interpreter the substance of what
I said, sometimes making very judicious observations, at
other times asking questions. I told him that every-
thing he saw shewed that there was a God, for it could
not be that the earth, the sun, etc., had been made by any
man. There must therefore (be) some superior invisible
power, that he who made the eye must see and that he
who made the ear, must hear, that in fact God was in all
places. He was present with us then and would be with
him when he returned home. He enquired whether if they
served God, they should be able to serve their king too.
I said they were to do what their king told them and also
what God told them. I then told him that God had given
us a law which all had broken and that he had sent his son
Jesus Christ to save us. He asked, where is he ? I told
him that he was from the first in heaven, then he came down
to the earth, afterwards he went into heaven again and that
at the last day he would come down to the earth again and
that we should all see him. He asked what was the last

Owen's Diary. 51

day. I said the end of the world, when all things will be
burned. He asked whether it would be Jesus Christ that
would raise people and then put many singular questions
as to what people would be raised and with what sort of
bodies they would come. He asked whether those persons
would be raised that had been dead a long time, and when
I repeatedly told him that all, all, all would be raised he
laughed partly thro’ astonishment and partly perhaps from
incredulity, I explained to him that our bodies would not
be like our present bodies but they would be changed. He
asked, what kind of bodies then 7 I said they wo_uld be
like Jesus Christ and not as our present bodies subject to
pain, sickness feebleness and death, but incorruptable and
immortal. I told him that those who learned God’s word
would be caught up in the clouds to meet Jesus Christ and
would be for ever with him. His ideas of a future state
were however formed from our present condition, and were,
as might be expected from an ignorant savage who had
never till now heard one syllable of religious truth, very
low and carnal. He asked whether we should plant in
heaven, whether the cattle would rise again too, what coloured
bodies we should have whether white or black. Some of
his enquiries however were more pertinent. He asked for
instance whether those who were already dead were now
happy. I gave him to understand that only those who
learned God's word would rise to happiness, and that the
rest awvould be cast into a fire which could never be extin-
guizhed. He expressed a doubt whether the people could
come to be taught without the king’s orders and said they
dared not, but he seemed to think that it would be impossible
to be the king's servants and serve God at the same time.
He asked after we had learned, learned, learned what then ?
Shall we know all ? I said, No! I do not know all myself
yet. His reply was most remarkable, ““then I suppose
that Jesus Christ alone knows all.” He asked when I went
away how they were to learn then. I said I did not mean
to go away. He asked, what, shall you not go back to your
own king again ? Upon the whole the manner of the young
man was so serious and his observations in general so per-
tinent, his attention and eagerness so great that I could
not but feel deeply interested in this conversation which
occupied a full hour.

In the afternoon I walked down to the town, and sent a
messenger to Umthlela, to say that I wanted to speak to
him. He sent word that I was to go and sit in the shade
and he would come to us. Accordingly having taken my
seat under a tree, Umthlela shortly made his appearance
and began to say he was very glad to see me, but at the
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same time I had been very ungenerous in not having given
him anything after I had been here so long. I asked him
if he had received the cloak I had sent him : he said he had
heard it was come, but he had not seen it, adding, if it stretches
from this tree to that, pointing to a tree about 30 yards off,
he should think something of it. I told him it was only
large enough to cover his body. He then asked divers
questions about its quality, colour, etc,, and at length said,
** Now then no more of begging; let me hear what you have
to say.” He then listened attentively whilst I told him
that I had come from the other side of the sea to teach the
people God’s words ; that this was my only object, and that
the word of God commanded people to be obedient to kings
and Indoonas and that it would make people who heard it
good subjects, good children and good in every respect.
He here interrupted me and asked me whether God had
said that Kings and Indoonas ought to learn his word, as
he knew I had begun to teach the children. I said certainly,
both small and great, and that there was once a nation
whose King God commanded to have his word constantly
by him, and to read and meditate on it every day. He
asked me to tell him what God’s word said. I told him
in a few words, that it told us first that we must all die, but
afterwards live again ; and that we must go cither into a
place of happiness or of misery; and that it shewcd us the
way to obtain everlasting happiness. He asked where
that place was. I said with God in Heaven. Mapeti,
another great Indoona whom Umthlela had sent for now
arrived to whom Umthlela related the former part of this
conversation. I then said that I had asked the king's
permission to teach God’s words to his people, and that
he was willing, but said that I must ask them. Umthlela
then said that as the King had sent me to him, his word
was this, I must go on teaching the children, and when they
had learned then I might teach the men. I made him under-
stand that what I required of the men was, not to learn to
read, as the children, but only to hear what I had to say.
He repeated however what he had said ; only adding that
as Tambooza was sick at home, nothing could be said till
he came. I thought it proper not to press the matter at
this time. Umthlela then took pains to inform me that
the heads of the nation were 1 The King, Dingarn,
2 Mapeti, 3 Umthlela, 4 Tambooza; and that the king
could do nothing without them ; for whatever the king
might appoint, it would not stand without their consent.
I told him I knew this, as the king himself had told me,
at which he seemed highly pleased. Mapeti who for the
first time I learned was superior in rank to Umthlela is the
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king's own brother, whom he very much resembles in coun-
tenance and in person being very stout. He is heir apparent
of the government. Umthlela is of slight stature, but tho
inferior in rank, took the lead in the conversation. It
terminated quite as favourably as I had anticipated. Tho
the word of God is for the present bound, I do not feel dis-
couraged, as I strongly hope, that in a little time, after
prejudices and suspicion have worn away, liberty will be
given to preach it. Meanwhile the people cannot fail to
enquire what is the nature of that word which they are
debarred from hearing and their minds will be better pre-
pared to listen to it, when the time for its proclamation
arrives.

Oct. 22nd, Sabbath. Only four children attended in the
morning to whom I gave a short and simple account of our
Saviour’s birth. They did not come in the afternoon owing
to rain. English service with the Lord’s supper in the hut,
my own family with my Interpreter composing our little
congregation.

Oct. 23. Dingamn sent for me to open a parcel which
had been brought to him. It appeared however that the
parcel was directed to me as were several letters I found in
it. There was besides Capt. Gardiner’s narrative of his
journey to this country.! I began to be a little frightened
lest Dingarn should open the book and see his own likeness,
and gave it therefore to my Interpreter telling him not to
give it him unless he asked for it. First he desired me to
tell him the news that was in my letters. It was on this
occasion that I first heard of the death of our late gracious
Sovereign, which fact I communicated to Dingarn. He
then asked to see the great book, referring to Capt. Gardiner’s
journal and wanted to know what is was about. I took
it in my hands, carefully keeping out of his sight the pictures
and told him that it was a description Capt. Gardiner had
given of his people from his last visit. He asked me to read
it. I read the first page ; wherein the author states his design
in visiting the Zoolu country, to gain access to ministers of
the Gospel and proceeded to tell Dingarn that now both he
and his people were well known in England tho previously
they had scarcely been heard of and that my people felt
much interested in his welfare and had sent me across the
sea to teach him God’s words. I told him that I was happy
in my own country, that I had a comfortable home and had
left it on purpose to teach his people but, I said, if I had not
men to teach I might as well have remained where 1 was,

1 Narrative of 2 Journey to the Zoolu Country, by Capt. A. F.
Gardiner, published in 1836.
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that I had spoken to his Indoonas, but they were not willing

that his people should come and be taught, but I looked to
him and to them to send them by and by. He asked, why
should I look to him ? had he not done all he could ? when T
asked him, had he not said that for his part he was willing
that his People should learn ? I told him that I knew he
was favourable to the teaching of God’'s word and I looked
to his Indoonas to be favourable also in a little time. Din-
garn said that if his Indoonas would consent, he should
thank them. I then repeated my opinion, that he himself
was favourable to God’s words. When this conversation
was over Dingarn put forth his hand to take the book. I
gave it to him and he opened it at the picture of his capital
with which he was much amused. He then turned over
the leaves one by one with his nails with the utmost care
and examined all the pictures which highly amused him,
his servants also gathering round and manifesting equal
delight. When he had atlength arrived at the very last page
he turned to the frontispiece, where he himself is pictured
in his ordinary and dancing dresses. He said that in the
latter dresses Capt. Gardiner had just hit him, but he could
not be persuaded that the middle picture was at all like
him. He mentioned someone else that it resembled. He
then asked if the book might remain with him, as he wanted
to shew it to his women, whom he called his sisters. I then
took my departure, but he called me back to see with my
own eyes the beads and various ornaments in which Capt,
Gardiner has depicted him, to shew me their resemblance
to his drawing. He then had one of his women dressed
out in them and got the long brass pole, which he has in the
picture and made her hold it exactly in the same way in
which he holds it in the book, and bid her to stand at a
moderate distance, that I might pronounce on the resem-
blance. All this was done with perfect gravity and in a
very short time, Dingarn asked me as soon as I saw him
this morning, whether the children continued to attend,
shewing as I understood him, a real desire that they should
be taught. It was too cold for them to come this morning
but they attended in the afternoon.

Oct. 26. I received a letter this morning from Capt.
Gardiner by some messengers whom he had despatched,
stating, that a copy of my letter to Mr. Maynard’s agent
at Port Natal, containing the application for gun-powder,
as mentioned in my journal of the r1st inst; had been for-
warded to him ; and that, as he considered it a forgery, he
had stationed a party of men at the ford of the Umtongata,
to stop the messengers who had the gunpowder, which he
intended to detain till he heard from me. In the afternoon
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Dingarn sent for me to read some letters which he had re-
ceived. One letter was for myself, stating that the tooth
had been received and valued at £7 10s. and 5 barrels of
gunpowder given in exchange. I judged it expedient to
inform Dingarn of the detention of the gunpowder and also
of the reason which Capt. Gardiner assigned; viz. that
someone had written the letter in my name: he was not
in the least offended, but said he should send messengers
for it to Capt. Gardiner, having heard from me, that I had
written to him to say that I was indeed the writer of the
letter. At this interview I read a letter to Dingarn which
he had received from the Dutch boers, who have lately left
the Colony, expressing their desire for peace and a good
understanding with the Zoolu nation: to effect which, it
was their wish to have, by means of their chief head, a per-
sonal interview with Dingarn : who would at the same time
also arrange with Dingarn the place of their future residence
which is to be in some part of the uninhabited country ad-
joining the Zoolu territories. The letter was dated from
Port Natal and signed by the chief of the boers. Their
party were at present dispersed in various parts of the country.
The letter also stated the cause of their rupture with Um-
zelekaz, Dingarn’s great foe, who by means of the Boers
and Zoolus is now said to be utterly vanquished.

Oct. 27. Dingarn sent for me in the morning to read the
letter from the Boers to Umthlela who was seated at his
feet. Neither of them made any observations on the letter
in my presence, but Dingarn seemed more than ever to
admire the mystery of writing and by the action of his fingers
as if holding a pen intimated his great anxiety to be able
to write. As he held the letter in his hand gazing at it with
astonishment I offered to explain to him the antiquity of
writing, in doing which I was led to remark that God had
written his commandants on two tables of stone which he
had given to his people, that they might observe them.
I was in hopes that he would ask me what these command-
ments were, but he made no reply and took up his card
which was lying on the ground and began to read. He
had so far practised it by himself that he was now able to
read every word without a mistake, tho’ doubtless as all
other beginners in a great measure by rote. He then called
for some pictures and wished me to show him how they
were drawn. As however I had no pencil by me I could
not satisfy him. He was particularly anxious to know
how the eyes and other parts of the human body were de-
lineated. He returned to me Capt. Gardiner's journal of
which he had taken great care. The messenger who
was sent for it brought in a basket. By the messengers
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whom the King despatched to Capt. Gardiner, I wrote a
letter requesting him to send the powder by them. (4s
this letter as well as that which I wrote yesterday morning by
his own messengers contain a fuller.)! In the evening Din-
garn sent for me again, and as I guessed his object was that
I might explain to him the art of writing, I took with me
a volume of the Encyclopaedia, containing that article,
shewing him prints of the eyes, ears, etc. of the human body,
which I thought would satisfy him, but he asked if I had
drawn them all today and hearing they were not my doing,
he wished me to exhibit my proficiency in this art. I shewed
him some prints in the encyclopaedia, particularly of the
diving bell, and explained to him its principle and use.
With this he was much pleased, and told me to explain it to
his women, for we were inside of the Isikauthlo. These
poor creatures then gathered round, but being as destitute
of sense as they are without God, instead of given me an
opportunity of administering to them any sort of intellectual
pleasure they did nothing but gaze on me and my dress:
and whilst I was talking one of them succeeded in capturing
a ribbon that was tied round my hat. Beyond their beads
and ornaments they seem not to have a thought. Dingarn
naturally thought that the bottom of the bell was covered
and asked whether there was a door in it to enable the work-
men to get out. He also enquired whether the water did
not come in.

Oct. 28th. Dingarn sent today to ask me to send him
some English garments to clothe his people with. He had
no doubt been informed of the check pinnafore which we
had given our female servant. I took him half a dozen of
them and a few kilts of dingareen intended as clothing
for the men. I never saw him more pleased. He thanked
me 3 times and said they were beautiful and that his people
would love to wear them. I then told him that my boy
servant had refused the kilt from fear (for when I offered
to him he shrunk back and said that he should be killed
if he wore it), but Dingarn said now that he was to wear
it and not be afraid. I staid but a very short time. In
order to meet with him I had to pass thro’ the Isikauthlo,
which is divided into numberless compartments, each con-
taining about 3 huts. These the Kking’s women inhabit,
but the king’s hut which is the largest of all is in a com-
partment by itself. Neatness and cleanliness are observ-
able everywhere. The children continue to attend regularly
once or twice a day. Today I put the eldest and most
forward over the rest as monitor, an office he sustained to
my satisfaction.
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Oct. 29, Sabbath. The children attended in the morning
to whom 1 explained as I did last Sunday the institution
of the Sabbath. I then asked them several questions arising
out of the hymn which 1 had been teaching them. In par-
ticular 1 enquired whether they thought that they were
cinners. To which question the eldest boy replied, . Wc
chall be sinners so long as we continue to do wrong.” As
this answer implied a conviction of sin it was the more en-
couraging as I had not yet told them that they were sinners.
It was either an inference from my previous instructions
or the genuine response of his own mind. I then asked if
they knew what would become of persons who continued
to sin. As they gave me no answer, H sa_ld that _God would
cast them into a pit of fire. The boy in question seeme.d
impressed. Dingarn not knowing it was Sunday sent to
have some knives ground. I was glad of this opportunity
to exemplify to him the precept of observing the sabbath.
Some of his servants also came to offer goats in sale. Din-
garn never sends for me on Sunday when he recollects the
day, tho' it is my earnest wish (as soon as his ear shall be
opened to attend to such a petition) to go regularly on the
Sabbath day into his Isikauthlo to teach him the words of
God. English service in the hut. _ R

Oct 31st.—Dingarn sent for me soon after 5 with directions
to bring pen ink and paper. As soon as I arrived he com-
manded one of his servants to make haste to bring all Um-
selekaz’ sheep which had been captured in the war. In
the meantime I asked Dingarn whether the man whom 1
saw yesterday told him his secret. He laughed and sa.lcl..
No ! not this time : nevertheless he was a great secret teller :
if anything was hid he could tell where it was. If any person
also had by witchcraft caused sickness, this man could smell
the witch out. Dingarn in answer to a question of mine
expressed his faith in the supernatural powers of the man
in question : which faith seems to have been confirmed by
the following circumstance. When the army did not return
from Umselekaz country as soon as was expected, Dingarn
called this man to him and asked the reason. He said that
only one regiment had had hard fight, that Umselekaz had
been conquered and put to flight, that the Zoolus had taken
a vast number of cattle and that the trouble of driving them
caused them to be so long on the road. Dingarn then said,
he took particular notice of everything the man said and

1 The words underlined are crossed out in the original. They are
at the bottom of a page and the whole of the next page is missing.
1t is probable that this page contained “ a fuller ” account ofl the
unfortunate gunpowder transaction into which Mr. Owen was driven
by the terrible circumstances in which he found himself.
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found that it was all true. Having related to me this wonder-
ful story, he asked me with an air of triumph what I could
say to this! I replied that if he had asked me the same
question I might have given the same answer, for I should
think it very likely that he would overpower Umselekaz,
it was very probable that Umselekaz would fly, that the
Zoolus would take a great many cattle and this would of
course delay them on their journey homeward. He laughed
at my persuasion(?) of the prowess of his arms, but said
the thing that most astonished him was the specification
of a particular regiment which had to fight hard. I asked
if the man was a real secret teller, why could he not tell
secrets always, for it appeared he was at a loss the other
day. He said they often asked the same sort of questions,
viz., If they could find out witches, why did they not find
them all out ? Many were still in the country who were as
yet undiscovered. He then told me the way in which the
witches went to work. He said that they went out in the
dead of night carrying a caf under their arms, that when
they got to the house of the person whom they intended to
bewitch, they sent this cat who was a sort of little messenger
into the house ; that the cat brought out either a bit of the
hair or a bit of the cloak or something else belonging to the
unhappy victim which the witch deposited in some secret
place under the floor of his house and that in consequence
the object of his mualice in due time became sick. Persons
had often been detected with the cat under their arms going
on this unmerciful errand. There were five animals which
the witch employed in his service, the cat, the wolf, the
panther, the jackal and the owl. I asked if the wolf did
not eat them up, but he gravely replied, No, for he follows
him as a dog and at break of day the witch and the wolf
have both been seen going about their business. All these
lies Dingarn seemed firmly to believe. I asked him whether
a white man could be bewitched and told him I would defy
all the witches in his Kingdom to do me any harm. He

said that they could bewitch me if they chose, but they did
not dare as I was the Kings' friend : for the same reason

they did not dare to bewitch any of his great Indoonas.

I said I hoped that now Missionaries were come into his

country there would be an end of witchcraft. He asked

why ? They will not be afraid of you: for they are not

even afraid of the ‘‘ smellers out.” Presently the servant

brought the sheep, together with the skins of a great many
which had died. Dingarn then called Umthela who took
his seat on the ground at the King's feet. He then dictated

a letter to the chief of the Boers who had written to him

the other day. The purport of this letter does credit either
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ingarn’s honesty or to his policy or to both. It was
:g sDaly gtha.t these sh}erep which had been captured from Um-
zelekaz (in number II0) belonged to the Dutch, and that.
he was anxious to return them to their proper masters :
that hundreds had died on the road and many more had
died since their arrival here, the skins of which he sent ;
and that Umzelekaz had fled with the oxen of the Dutch
only g of which had the Zooloos captured and these had all
died. ~ I was much pleased with this little instance of Din-
garn’s sense of justice. As he was desirous of putting his
own mark on the letter I gave him the pen wherewith as if
affecting to write, he made a scribble down the paper, at
which I could not keep my countenance, nor did he pre-
serve his. He is indeed wonderfully taken with this sure
mode of communication by writing and resorts to it at every
opportunity. Whenever he sends a message to or by a
white man it is always on paper. The other day having
occasion to send a white man to Delagoa Bay, he made him
write down the message that he might not forget 1t and sent
to me for pen, ink and paper for that purpose. In the even-
ing the Messenger returned with the powder : when Dingarn
sent for me again to open a parcel of papers which they had
brought for me from the American Missionaries : all which
he desired me to explain. _ 4 ,
Naw, 1st.—Dingarn sent for me in the evening to _wnt_e
another letter for him to Port Natal. This I wrote in his
own name. It was to purchase more gunpowder with 3
elephants teeth. h !
2nd.—Again 1 was sent for in the evening to read a letter
which the King had received: but as it appeared that it
was addressed neither to him nor myself, but to a European
supposed to be at Umkunginglovo, he was at the pains to
send a messenger to the writer of the letter for permission,
which T said must be on paper, for me to read it to him.
Tho’ the letter was not sealed, Dingarn shewed great delicacy
in not offering to open it, tho’ a verbal request had been
brought that I should read it to him. He recommenced
this evening his reading, which has been omitted for some
days- - - .
3rd.—Dingarn sent for me mn the morning to write a letter
to Capt. Gardiner : before he told me the subject, he dis-
missed his Indoonas and servants, and we were left alone.
The letter was to request Capt. Gardiner to come and advise
with the King, respecting the territory to be agsxgned to the
Dutch. He said they were desirous of settling in the country
which he had already given to Capt. Gardiner, and he did
not wish to displease him by asking him to relinquish it :
but he had rather that they go and settle in the country
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near that from whence Umselekaz has lately been driven.
(A letter from Capt Gardiner had previously apprized me
that the Dutch farmers, who had arrived at Port Natal,
intended to take possession of the adjacent country and
setting up a government of their own, which had been loudly
protested against by the English settlers, who purposed in
a few days sending a petition to the Government for aid
and a recognition of the territory of Victoria by Great Britain.)
The letter being written, Dingarn having taken it into his
hand began more than ever to admire the art of writing
and asked, as he has done a thousand times, whether he
should ever be able to learn it. On telling him that if he
tried he might, he said that if the difficulty did overpower
him, it should not be for want of trial. He then began to
read, and confessed that he had not * thirsted " after his
reading so much lately as before, but said if he “ thirsted "
more, he supposed he should make quicker progress. I
have still reason to be encouraged in the children, particularly
in some of the elder boys. One of these a lad about 15 or
16 years old, who has changed his residence to a neighbour-
ing village, received on removing, an express command
from the King to attend the station daily. He is a very
intelligent and well behaved youth and has attended me
from the beginning.

4th—Intense cold to-day prevented the children from
assembling. In the evening the King sent for me to read
a letter which he had received from the Dutch : he was seated
in his hut on a chair: his Indoonas were also present. On
his presenting me with the letter, I was sorry to find it was
written in Dutch, a language I do not understand. Dingarn
however did not manifest the least sign of disappointment,
but requested me to shew him how paper was made. On
my observing that I thought the Dutch would be here the
day after tomorrow, he asked if the obstacle to their coming
tomorrow was Sunday: and asked if I intended to keep
Sunday tomorrow | I said yes, and that I was sure as it
was Sunday he would not send for me on any common business
but if he would send for me to read to him God’s book, 1
should be very glad to come. He asked if I meant to read
in the same way I had done at Nobamba, and hearing that
this was my wish, he said I might come. I rejoice in this
as one step gained to the open preaching of the word : and
hope and pray that I may gain access to the King every
Sabbath with the exclusive right of teaching him Jesus.
Dingarn’s hut was very warm, a fire having been kindled
in it, the smoke of which had rendered his face doubly black.
His house does great honour to native architecture. It is
very spacious, lofty and exquisitely neat ; the floor as bright
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ished marble, a fire place very tastely devised and
:}iepﬁgosf formed of sticks closely compacted together. : It
is far superior to the common huts, but the door is as low
as any. It is supported by 21 pillars or posts which are
covered from top to bottom with beads of various coloml'lsA
Dingarn usually reclines on a mat e;.‘t the left side of the
r, but today he was sitting on a chair. d
d.ootﬁ Sabbark.}LDingam sent early to say, that as it wta)g
so cold, I had better not come today, as they would not :
able to attend for the cold. At this I could not be mu}cl.l
surprised, as the natives always feel cold severely. Ie
added that I was to come some other Sunday instead. In
the afternoon the Dutch arrived. Dingarn sent for me to
come and see them. Of course I went. Dingarn asked
if I was keeping worship when he sent for me. I said goﬁ
but I had come as he had sent for me to shake hands wit
the Dutch. He then shewed me where they were. I told
Dingarn that I hoped next Sunday to come and teach him.
He said Yes! The Dutch expressed their disappointment
that they did not arrive in time for service. The deputation
consisted of four persons. When I got home I saw that
Dingarn was making an exhibition of his cattle. He has
lately been collecting an immense herd of oxen from distant
parts of the country, for no other concelyabie motive than
to display his wealth to the Dutch. This herd consists of
the white back oxen only: but it was without number.
The children attended today. Kukumala the eldest pro-
fessed to have a knowledge of sin. To convince him, I
assured him that swearing and lying, the two most common
sins, were both forbidden by Jesus Christ. The usual oath
is “ by Dingarn.” He seemed surprised and told me I had
confounded him : whereupon I explained to him how God
had noted his sins and would bring him to judgment if he
did not repent, but he might obtain forgiveness thro’ Jesus
Christ.
6th.—Dingarn afforded amusement to the Dutch by
collecting a large body of men from different parts to dance.
The Gouverneur Mr. Ratief (sic) dined with us. Dingamn
told him that pleasure must take precedence of business.
The Indoonas (he said) had been asking the King to go once
more against Umselekaz to bring his head, but the King
said that if they had done as they ought, they would have
brought it the last time. We were much pleased with the
frank and open manners of our guest. - e
7th—Dingarn sent for me to witness the festivities in
honour of the Dutch. One whole regiment of (word-miss-
ing) or young men, who have not a ring on thmr_head: were
summoned to exhibit their skill and energy in military
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exercises. So anxious was the King that I migh
full enjoyment of this sight, that hegsent a sccogdtn?e?s?:ntggi
to bring me and would not allow me to sit as at other times
but said that I must stand and admire. He was at great pains:
to assure us all, t}}at this was the smallest of all his regiments
nor were ears quicker than his, except perhaps those of “his
Indoonas, when I gave the very slighest intimation that I
wanted to be informed concerning any part of the solemnit
The first act was a representation of the manner in whigi;
the Zoolus commence a battle. The regiment divided into
companies, each soldier having a stick in each hand (or in
lieu of a stlc‘k the horn or some bone of a beast, for very few
had their shields, and no one his spear) with a sort of double
quick march, performed various evolutions, exciting them-
selves to the supposed combat by some note of their voice
which could not be called a song, and by raising their sticks
aloft in the air. Very soon tho’ it was not warm, the wet
ran down their bodies. On a sudden they gave a whistle
and forming into one large company they rushed furiously
as 1fhto a charge down the open area of the town \vhisthng
as they ran. Some who had shields after this first essay
leaping aloft and kicking their shields cried out *“ We are as
hard as stones: nothing shall hurt us.” Presently the
military divided into two parts and each dancing round the
area on opposite quarters, they at last came within 20 yards
of each other, when they made a tremendous rush as if
engaging each other in close conflict. The Zoolus do not
throw their spears as other tribes do, but come to close
quarters. After the sham fight had continued for some
minutes, one party gave a particular sort of cry, which is
}Jsual after they have gained a victory. After this they
ormed a large semicircle, in which they stood very thick
and deep, their numbers beyond count, and began to sin
and dance, the King himself sometimes setting the tun('g
Dingarn was clothed with a splendid robe of various colours,
black, white and red in broad stripes from the tc;p to thc’
bottom. When the review was over, another party of men
began to assemble, and fearing I might be detained still
some hours under the almost vertical sun, which was no
very hot, I pleaded for my dismissal. , g
Francis OWEN,
Kulula Unkunginglovo,
Zoolu Country,

Received in London, March 29th, 1838. rse%li}.hs?hf,nfgé,y
. Nov. 8th—Dingarn sent very early for me, and in grea;‘.
aste to meet the Dutch on business. Mr. Retief the Gouver-
neur had written a letter to himself as from the king who

Owen’s Diary. 63

dictated it. This letter being in Dutch was first interpreted
to me, and then read over to the king for his approval. I
was requested both by the king and Mr. Retief to write the
letter in English.

The Gouverneur then returned home with me, here 1
wrote in English to the following effect. ‘‘ An answer to
our letter and the conversation which has now taken place”
alluding to Mr. Retief’s letter mentioned in my journal of
26th ult. and a conversation which he had yesterday with
the Dutch, at which I was not present. After a long parade
about the Boors’ cattle which he had taken from Umzelekaz,
and in the plenitude of his bounty had restored to their
right owners, being only a repetition of what he had already
written (Journal 31st ult.), Dingaan proceeds “ To go on
now with the request you have made for the land. I am
quite willing to grant it.” This land was the country North-
ward, Southward and Westward of Port Natal which I have
understood from Capt®. Gardiner he has already given to
the king of Great Britain by a formal grant, signed by him
since Capt®. Gardiner’s late arrival, but which he is now
“ quite willing " to give to another power. ‘‘ But first
(he says) 1 wish to explain that a great many cattle have
been stolen from me from the outskirts of my country by
ople with clothing, horses and guns. These people told
the Zoolus that they were Boers, and that one party was
gone to Port Natal and that they (the Zoolus) would see
now what would come upon them ! It is my wish now that
you should shew that you are not guilty of the charge which
has been laid against you, as I now believe you to be. It
ijs my request that you chould retake my cattle and bring
them to me, and if possible send me the thief, and that will
take all suspicion away from me, and I will cause you to
know that T am your friend. I will then grant your request.”
After writing the above I had a long conversation with
Mr. Retief on the inconsistency of Dingarn’s conduct, and
the vain hopes which he was holding out to him. I told
him of the grant of country to the English Government,
and asked him whether supposing the settlers at Port Natal
objected to their occupying the country of Victoria, except
on condition of their becoming subject again to the British
Government, they would occupy it on these terms ? He
plainly said No. I then asked him whether they would
attempt to occupy the country by force ? He distinctly
said No. They would go further Northward, and get some
other equivalent for the service which they were now going
to perform for Dingaan, alluding to a recompense in cattle.
He thoroughly understood how the land in question had
B
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passed away from Dingarn, and how he could not comse-
quently give it to them. But the expedition against the
native chief, whom they knew to have stolen the Zoolu cattle
was necessary, he considered, for a vindication of their own
character. But I endeavoured to prove to him that no
such necessity existed, for there were other means of clear-
ing their character than by becoming Dingarn’s emissaries
in making war. I said that the report of the messengers
who had told the king that they were Dutch who had stolen
the cattle, ought to be examined into : that these messengers
ought to be confronted with the Boers before Dingarn :
that they should be asked what was the colour of the skins
of the mounted party who told them that they were Dutch.
He said he had already asked the king for this : whose reply
was that the messengers had stated that they had red caps
on and that if there were black people among them, they
were only a party with which the Boers had united : but
the messengers did not say that they had seen a single white
man, only that their dress was like white people’s and that
they said they were Boers. After saying a great deal more
on this subject, I was obliged to desist. Mr. Retief (who
himself seems all mildness) could not see that any course
was left but one, viz., to go to Sintuala* chief of the Mantitees
or Busutoos and read the letter which Dingarn had written.
He felt persuaded that this chief would without hesitation
surrender up the cattle, as he had both witnessed and con-
fessed the power of the Dutch : and he would deeply lament
any necessity for war. That the nearest missionary might
read the letter to Sintuala he was desirous of its being in
English—We then went to the king to have his signature,
Having read the letter to him I asked him in the presence
of the Dutch, whether he had not already given the land
which the Boors had been requesting of him to the British
Government | He paused for a few moments, and then
said, “ I will speak to Mr. Retief on that subject when he
returns with the cattle.” Either he or his Indoona after-
wards said, he had not yet stated what country he should
give to the Dutch. To this assertion they made no objection.
On taking leave of Mr. Retief, I expressed my earnest hope
that no blood might be spilled. He warmly assured me of
his fervent wishes to prevent it himself, and believed that
the cattle would be restored without a blow. To him I
committed my letters and journal to be forwarded to the
Colony.

Nov. gth.—Dingarn sent in the evening to borrow a bullet
mould of me, as his own was not large enough. Having

*Sikonyela, for affairs between this chief and Dingaan, vide appendix.
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i intelligence from Captr Gardiner that the gun-
p;)mc:rldv;'d which Igprocurcd for Dingarn would not have pro-
ceeded from Mr. Maynard’s store had it been known that
it was for Dingarn, and it having been also represented to
me by Capt® Gardiner, that the sole purpose for which Din-
garn wants powder and other warlike stores is to do mis-
chief. I resolved to act upon his testimony and advice,
considering this as the safest and wisest course, f_rom which
I should not have deviated in the first instance, if the least
suspicion had crossed my mind either that the settlers at
Port Natal were unwilling that Dingarn should have powder,
or that Dingarn would use it improperly. Accordingly I
desired the messenger to tell the king that I could not lend
him the bullet mould, but that I would explain the reason
when I saw him. I had scarcely delivered this message
when I was sent for to read a letter which the king had
received from Capt® Gardiner. This letter was in answer
to that which Dingarn had written to ask him to come and
give his advice about the territory which was proper to be
assigned to the Dutch. Capt® Gardiner put some pointed
questions to him respecting the injustice of giving to the
Dutch, what he had already given to the king of England,
by a formal grant signed by himself and his brother Mapeeti,
and asked him what would other kings think of Dingarn,
if they found that his words were not fast wprds, or concluded
by advising him not to promise any of this territory to the
Dutch, till he had heard from the English Government.
Dingarn asked what was it that made Capt® Gardiner so
angry ! Had he not told him in his letters, that he did not
wish to give the land about Port Natal to the Dutch, but
that he had rather they should occupy the country from
which he had lately driven Umselekaz and which was now
his ? This was what he intended to give them and not
what he had already given to the king of England! He
had not told the Dutch what country he should give them !
He knew that they desired Port Natal, but he did not .mtend
to give it them. If, however, they should determine to
occupy it by force, should he then be blamed ! It appears that
Dingarn has been acting craftily toward the Boers. He
knows full well what part of the country they wish to possess
and he has been giving them to understand that the whole
country, called Victoria, is still Ass. (Of this I was informed
by Mr. Retief), but he has not expressly pror_nise:-fi to transfer
any part of it to them. He has merely said, “ Go and get
my cattle, and then I will give you land somewhere,” he
means Umselekaz late country, but he has been leading
then to imagine it is Port Natal. Aware of this I thought
it right yesterday to expose Dingarn’s subtlety to Mr. Retief,
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and to put Dingarn himself, in presence of Mr. Reti
understands English and the othg- Dutch, the plain qsfzsggr?
whether he had not already alienated the land, which question
he evaded as already mentioned. The Dutch farmers cannot
be surprised if he puts them off with Umselekaz country:
and Mr. Retl_ef expressly assured me that if Victoria coulri
not be occupied peacefully it would not be occupied at all
Haying endeavoured to explain as well as I could, the reasons
which Capt® Gardiner had for writing to him in the style
he had, .a.nd recommended him to write another letter to
pledge himself not to give the land in question to the Boers
(if he really did not mean to give it them), I proceeded to
tell him, that I should always be glad to do him any favour
in my power, but with regard to the bullet mould, gun-
powder and the like, as these were instruments of war, it
was not right in me as a white man to provide him with
them, and that the white people would not be pleased with
me if I did, and tho’ I had once procured him powder, and
my interpreter had sold him a gun, I hoped he would not
ask me again to get him any of these articles. He said he
did not wish to over persuade me. He said it was 1:ight in
me to obey the laws of the white people : but tho’ powder
and shot were instruments of war, /e did not intend to emplo
them for that purpose, as he always made war withpthz
spear. He then asked me if I had finished my meat, and
said he would send me an ox to-morrow. ,

Nov. 12th, Sabbath. Dingarn sent a boy with his Tele-
scope for my Interpreter to mend. I desired him to return
it saying it was Sunday, and also that I was coming by the king’s
desire to read to him God’s book. We were directed gto
wait outside of the Isikauthlo. A man stood near us shoutin
or tl'ather brawling with great vehemence for many ;minuteg
tho’ no one was near but ourselves. When he had finished
he came to us and I asked to whom he was speaking. He
said to the king: that he was praising his shield because
he had given him one. I have sometimes heard the kin 's
praises sounded forth in this manner in the dead of niglglt
to the disturbance of my repose. The voice of the pra.is«er,
has reached the station a distance of more than a mile
Presently notice was given to the king that a buffalo was
in sight. This at once defeated my expectation of preach-
ing to him the word of God. The men were immediatel
ordered forth with their dogs and spears to hunt. Din 4
himself ran about with his Telescope to get a sight ofg?